School of Public Health

Thesis and Dissertations

2022-07-12

# bÿ A d u I t s C o v i d - 19 V a c c i n a t i o n Acceptance Levels and Associated Factors in Bahir Dar City Administration, Amhara Region, North West Ethiopia

Ashenefe, Belaihun

http://ir.bdu.edu.et/handle/123456789/14905 Downloaded from DSpace Repository, DSpace Institution's institutional repository



# BAHIR DAR UNIVERSITY, COLLEGE OF MEDICINE AND HEALTH SCIENCES, SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH, DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH

ADULTS' COVID-19 VACCINATION ACCEPTANCE LEVELS AND ASSOCIATED FACTORS IN BAHIR DAR CITY ADMINISTRATION, AMHARA REGION, NORTH WEST ETHIOPIA

BY: ASHENEFE BELAIHUN (BSc)

A RESEARCH THESIS TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH, SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH, COLLEGE OF MEDICINE AND HEALTH SCIENCES, BAHIR DAR UNIVERSITY FOR THE PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR MASTERS OF PUBLIC HEALTH IN WATER, SANITATION, AND HYGIENE.

> JULY, 2022 BAHIR DAR

NAME of	ASHENEFE BELAIHUN
INVESTIGATOR	• <b>Mobile:</b> +251-913 23 24 37
	• Email: <u>ashenefe2020@gmail.com</u>
	1 Dr ACHENEE MOTDAINOD (DL D)
NAME of ADVISORS	1. DFACHENEF WOIDAINOK (FILD.)
	• <b>Mobile:</b> +251-913036325
	• Email: motbainor2@gmail.com
	2. Mr TEBKEW SHIBABAW (BSc, MSc)
	• <b>Mobile:</b> +251-900184460
	• Email: <u>tebkews@gmail.com</u>
A STUDY TITTLE	ADULTS' COVID-19 VACCINATION ACCEPTANCE
	LEVELS AND ASSOCIATED FACTORS IN BAHIR
	DAR CITY ADMINISTRATION, AMHARA REGION,
	NORTH WEST ETHIOPIA
STUDY PERIOD	March 8-30, 2022
STUDY AREA	BAHIR DAR CITY ADMINISTRATION, AMHARA
	REGION, NORTH WEST ETHIOPIA

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my advisors, **Dr Achenef Motbainor** and **Mr Tebkew Shibabaw**, for their valuable contribution throughout the process of this research work, and also **Dr Muluken Azage** for his strong support and coaching.

Secondly, I am grateful to Bahir Dar University, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, School of Public Health, and the Department of Environmental Health Sciences for giving me this opportunity.

I would also like to thank the City Municipal Office of Bihar Dar city administration for their cooperation in giving me the necessary information.

Lastly, I would like to thank the study participants, data collectors, and supervisors for their valuable contribution to the success of this study.

Content	Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	I
LIST OF TABLES	V
LIST OF FIGURES	VI
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	VII
ABSTRACT	VIII
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background	1
1.2. Statement of the Problem	2
1.3. Justification of the Study:	3
1.4. Significance of the study	3
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1. Adult's acceptance of COVID-19 Vaccination	4
2.2. Factors affecting acceptance of COVID-19 Vaccination	5
2.2.1. Socio-demographic factors	5
2.2.2. Knowledge-related factors	6
2.2.3. Psychological and behavioral factors	6
2.2.4. Clinical factors	7
2.2.5. Institutional factors	7
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	8
3. OBJECTIVES	9
3.1. General objective	9
3.2. Specific objective	9
4. METHODS AND MATERIALS	10
4.1. Study design	10
4.2. Study area and period	10
4.3. Population	10

# Table of Contents

4.3.1.	Source population	10
4.3.2.	Study population	10
4.3.3.	Study Unit	10
4.4. Inc	clusion and exclusion criteria	11
4.4.1.	Inclusion criteria	11
4.4.2.	Exclusion criteria	11
4.5. Sa	mple size determination and sampling procedure	11
4.5.1.	Sample size determination	11
4.5.2.	Sampling procedure	11
4.6. Stu	udy Variables	13
4.6.1.	Dependent variable	13
4.6.2.	Independent variables	13
4.7. Op	perational and terms of definitions	13
4.8. Da	ta collection tool and method	14
4.8.1.	Data collection tool	14
4.8.2.	Data collection method	15
4.9. Da	ata quality assurance	15
4.10.	Data processing and analysis	15
4.11.	Ethical Consideration	16
5. RESUI	LTS	17
5.1. So	cio-demographic characteristics of the study participants	17
5.2. Ps	ychological and Behavioral factors	18
5.2.1.	Knowledge of COVID-19 disease and vaccine among study participants	18
5.2.2.	Attitude toward COVID-19 disease and vaccine among study participants	18
5.2.3.	Practice toward COVID-19 prevention measures among participants	18

5.2	4. Perceived Susceptibility & Perceived Severity	19
5.3.	Clinical characteristics of study participants	20
5.4.	Institution-related characteristics of study participants	20
5.5.	Acceptance of Covid-19 vaccination	22
5.6.	Factors associated with COVID-19 vaccination acceptance	22
6. DIS	SCUSSION	26
7. LIN	/ITATION OF THE STUDY	
8. CO	NCLUSION	29
9. RE	COMMENDATIONS	29
10. RE	FERENCES	
11. AP	PENDICES	
11.1.	Annex I: Information Sheet	
11.2.	Annex II: Informed Consent Form	
11.3.	Annex III: English version questionnaire	40
11.4.	Annex IV፡ የአማርኛ ቅጇ ሚጃ ቅፅ፡ የፍቃድ ፎርምእና ማጠይቅ	49
11.5.	Annex V: Student Declaration	62
11.6.	Annex VI: Assurance of principal investigator	63

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Sociodemographic characteristics of the study participants residing in Bahir Dar city
administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=728)17
Table 2: Psychological characteristics of the study participants residing in Bahir Dar city
administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=728)19
Table 3: Clinical characteristics of study participants residing in Bahir Dar city administration,
Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=728)20
Table 4: Institution-related characteristics of study participants residing in Bahir Dar city
administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=728)21
Table 5: Reasons for not accepting the COVID-19 vaccine among study participants residing in
Bahir Dar city administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=277)22
Table 6: Factors associated with acceptance of Covid-19 Vaccine among study participants at
Bahir Dar City Administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022

# LIST OF FIGURES

# **ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS**

AOR	Adjusted odds ratio
BSc	Bachelor of Science
COR	Crudes odds ratio
CI	Confidence interval
COVID-19	Corona virus disease 2019
HHs	Households
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus 2
SPSS	Statistical package for social science
WHO	World Health Organization

#### ABSTRACT

**Background**: Coronavirus disease 2019 is an infectious disease caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 which is responsible for the worst pandemic today. Currently, there are strong efforts that made the COVID-19 vaccine available in Ethiopia to control the spread of the virus. But little is known about the adult population's acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination in Bahir Dar city, Amhara region, Ethiopia.

**Objective:** To assess adults' COVID-19 vaccination acceptance levels and associated factors in Bahir Dar City Administration, North West Ethiopia, 2022.

**Methods:** A community-based cross-sectional study was conducted among adults at Bahir Dar city, Amhara region, from March  $8^{th}$  - $30^{th}$ , 2022. A multistage sampling technique was used to select 788 respondents. Face-to-face interviews were used to collect the data, which were entered into Epi-data and exported into SPSS for analysis. Descriptive statistics were computed and presented by tables, graphs, and texts. Bivariable logistic regression analysis was computed to identify variables for multivariable analysis. Multivariable logistic regression analysis was computed to identify statistically significant variables by considering p<0.05.

**Results:** From 788 samples, a total of 728 adults participated in this study with a response rate of 92.4%. The acceptance rate of COVID-19 vaccination was 62.0% (95% CI: 58.3%, 65.5%). The factors significantly associated with vaccine acceptance were educational status of grade 9-12 [AOR=2.67, 95% CI: (1.14, 6.27)] and completed higher education [AOR=3.05, 95% CI: (1.49, 6.24)], occupation of daily laborers [AOR=2.09, 95% CI: (1.06, 4.13)], living with a person at risk of severe COVID-19 disease [AOR = 3.12, 95% CI: (1.98, 4.91)], high perceived susceptibility of Covid-19 [AOR = 2.02, 95% CI: (1.26, 3.24)], high perceived severity of COVID-19 [AOR = 3.39, 95% CI: (2.12, 5.41)], good knowledge on COVID-19 disease [AOR = 2.85, 95% CI: (1.68, 4.83)], good practice on COVID-19 prevention [AOR = 3.10, 95% CI: (1.46, 6.59), and good knowledge on COVID-19 vaccine [AOR = 2.47, 95% CI: (1.16, 5.27)].

**Conclusion:** The current study found that two out of every three individuals are willing to receive COVID-19 vaccination. Educational status, occupational status, knowledge and preventive practice toward COVID-19 disease, knowledge of its vaccine, and perceptions of the disease susceptibility and severity affect the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination. This implies that multiple efforts are still needed to improve the COVID-19 vaccine's acceptability.

**Keywords:** Acceptance, COVID-19, vaccine, vaccination, associated factors, Ethiopia.

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1. Background

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious disease caused by a newly emergent coronavirus called severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) also known as Novel coronavirus (1). The virus is responsible for the worst pandemic ever and has contributed to health, lives, and economic losses all over the world (2). It emerged in Wuhan, China at the end of December 2019 and rapidly spread globally, leading to more than 6,345,595 deaths and above 551,226,298 confirmed cases of COVID-19 till 8<sup>th</sup> July 2022(3, 4). After detecting the first case in Ethiopia in March 2020, the number of cases and deaths increased from time to time. As of July 15, 2022, the country had 467, 691 COVID-19 cases and 7,428 deaths domestically (5). Although most persons with COVID-19 have mild to moderate symptoms, the condition can lead to serious medical consequences and death in some cases (6).

As recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO), different prevention and control measures such as hand washing, physical distancing, movement restrictions, often referred to as 'lockdowns', and applying personal protective materials like face masks have been implemented in various countries to reduce the burden of COVID-19 (7). Besides these measures, vaccination could be a key protective measure against COVID-19 (7). To fight the COVID-19 pandemic, researchers from all over the world have made remarkable efforts to create vaccines against the virus. Currently, the COVID-19 vaccine has been made available. As of January 2022, twenty-seven vaccines have been approved by WHO to use in different countries (8). Simultaneously till July 15, 2022, additional 367 vaccines are under clinical trials, of which 169 of them are in the clinical phase (9). Vaccination was prioritized for vulnerable groups in most countries globally but currently, it is being given to all candidate individuals. Ethiopia started administering the vaccine on March 13, 2021 and is currently provided for different groups of the adult population (10). Currently, five COVID-19 vaccines are approved for use in Ethiopia namely, Pfizer, Janssen, Oxford/AstraZeneca, Serum Institute of India Covishield, and Sinopharm (11).

#### **1.2.** Statement of the Problem

Vaccination has been a crucial tool for improving health outcomes and life expectancy by controlling and preventing infectious disease transmissions including COVID-19 (12). This could be effective when individuals have a favorable attitude and acceptance towards COVID-19 vaccination. But evidence on COVID-19 vaccination acceptance has demonstrated that the acceptability rate of the vaccine is low and differs across nations and different areas within the nations ranging from 28.7% to 91.3% (13-22). A global survey, which included 19 countries report showed that COVID-19 vaccine acceptance has high heterogeneity (23). In Africa, it ranged from 43.55% in Egypt to 82.765% in Mauritius (24).

In our country, Ethiopia, the acceptance rate of COVID-19 vaccination has considerable problems. A systematic review and meta-analysis revealed that a pooled acceptance rate for the COVID-19 vaccination was 51.64% (25).

Acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination is affected by different factors. Evidence showed that age, occupational status, gender, marital status, educational status, income, perceived risk of COVID-19 infection, attitude towards COVID-19, knowledge of COVID-19, being sick with COVID-19, the pre-existence of chronic disease, fear of side effects, and lack of confidence in vaccine effectiveness influence individuals vaccination acceptance (18, 26-31). The success of vaccination acceptance is also determined by trust in vaccinations and the institutions that provide them (32). In addition, vaccination myths and conspiracy theories have been spreading, and the developing world is easily accepting of them. This may cause people to be reluctant and maleficent about vaccination (33). Waning public confidence in vaccines due to rumors and conspiracy theories is a major challenge for public health experts and policymakers worldwide (34).

Low acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination leads to further spread of COVID-19 disease which allows the pandemic to be continued (35). Consequently, it will have a devastating health impact on humans (36). In addition, it has a significant socio-economic burden that cannot be underestimated. It has caused a substantial reduction in the workforce and an increase in unemployment globally (37). It also causes severe disruptions and unprecedented challenges for healthcare systems worldwide (38). Despite these negative consequences, there is no study about the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination among adults in Bahir Dar city, Amhara region,

Ethiopia. Since adults are eligible for its vaccination, knowing the acceptance rate among them is imperative.

# **1.3.** Justification of the Study:

Vaccination is a key component to control the COVID-19 disease pandemic. Understanding the attitude and ensuring the population's acceptance towards vaccination of the COVID-19 vaccine is equally important with effective and equitable distribution of the vaccines. To answer this knowledge gap, studies that targeted different groups of populations are conducted regarding vaccination acceptance globally and locally in Ethiopia. However, the findings showed the presence of heterogeneity between different countries and even within a country. So, studies at different localities are mandatory to assess the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination but little is known in the Amhara region, Ethiopia. Hence, the present study aimed to assess adults' level of COVID-19 vaccination acceptance and associated factors in Bahir Dar City administration, North West Ethiopia.

# 1.4. Significance of the study

Undertaking a study related to COVID-19 at this critical time is vital. Specifically, the vaccine acceptance status among the general population is crucial to draw policy plans and assess available resources to meet COVID-19 and overall health challenges to lessen the acute pandemic burden. The finding of this study will contribute to Amhara Regional Health Bureau, Bahir Dar zonal Health Department, Bahir Dar city administration, and non-governmental organizations working on COVID-19 prevention and control to identify the gap in COVID-19 vaccination acceptance and its associated factors. This will ultimately be used to design different strategies that could optimize the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination. Individuals will also be benefited from this study in terms of COVID-19 disease prevention and control interventions. Additionally, it will act as a baseline for future researchers to conduct further studies.

#### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1. Adult's acceptance of COVID-19 Vaccination

Different studies have been carried out to assess the level of acceptance regarding COVID-19 vaccination. A global survey which was conducted among 19 countries revealed that 71.5% of respondents accept the vaccine if it were proven safe and effective. The finding further described the presence of differences in acceptance rates among countries which ranged from almost 90% in China to less than 55% in Russia (23). Another national study in Russia showed that 41.7% of their study participants were willing to get the vaccine if it became available (39).

In the United States, a national survey was conducted to measure intent to receive COVID-19 vaccines as well as the attitude towards COVID-19 vaccine, values, and trust in local, state, and federal public health authorities. The findings showed that half of the adults intend to accept COVID-19 vaccines (40). Other two different studies from America also reported an acceptance rate of 69% and 67% for the COVID-19 vaccine (41, 42). From Ecuador, researchers found that 97% of study participants agree to get vaccinated against COVID-19 (43).

In China, different studies were conducted on the acceptance of the COVID-19 Vaccine among adults. Acceptance rates ranged from 37.2%-91.3% in different parts of the country (13, 14, 18, 21, 44). A similar study was also conducted in Jordan that showed that 36.3% of their study participants accept the COVID-19 vaccine (45). In Indonesia, 93.3% of respondents would like to be vaccinated for a 95% effective vaccine, but this acceptance decreased to 67.0% for a vaccine with 50% effectiveness (46).

In an online survey in Europe, 73.9% of the 7664 participants from seven countries stated that they would be willing to get vaccinated against COVID-19 if a vaccine would be available (47). In another study conducted specifically in France, an acceptance rate of 77.6% was reported (26). In the survey from the United Kingdom, 64% of participants reported being very likely to be vaccinated against COVID-19, 27% were unsure, and 9% reported being very unlikely to be vaccinated (17).

In the study from the Arab world, 62.4% of participants accept the COVID-19 vaccine (48). Another study conducted specifically in Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, and India on the acceptance of a COVID-19 Vaccine revealed that only 44.7%, 64.7%, 53.1%, and 79% were

willing to take the COVID-19 vaccine respectively (28, 49-51). From Middle Eastern countries, 36.8% of acceptance was reported (20). An international survey among Low- and Middleincome countries also found an overall acceptance rate of 76.4% by considering 90% of vaccine effectiveness (52).

In Africa, a variety of results are found from different studies. In a cross-sectional study conducted among participants from 42 African and Middle East countries, 66.81% of the participants would like to be vaccinated against COVID-19 (53). Another survey conducted among 6 Sub-Saharan African countries showed that 87.6% of the participants accept vaccination against Covid-19 (54). In other studies, acceptance rates of 55.9%, 53.6%, and 50.2% were reported from a study conducted in the Democratic Republic of Congo, Uganda, and Nigeria respectively (16, 55, 56)

In Ethiopia, community-based cross-sectional studies were conducted in different regions. In the Gurage zone, 62.6% of the respondents had the intention to use the COVID-19 vaccine (57). Other studies from Wolaita Sodo showed that 45.5% and 46.1% of participants showed a willingness to take a COVID-19 vaccine if it becomes available (58, 59). Moreover, a rate of 31.3% to 69.3% was reported from studies that are conducted among different groups of populations like university students, health care workers, pregnant mothers, lactating mothers, and patients with chronic disease(60-65).

#### 2.2. Factors affecting acceptance of COVID-19 Vaccination

#### 2.2.1. Socio-demographic factors

COVID-19 vaccination acceptance is affected by a variety of factors. Researchers have identified many socio-demographic and other factors (31). Studies revealed that the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination is significantly associated with the socio-demographic characteristics of individuals. Among different socio-demographic factors, age is one of the predictors which is indicated by many findings. According to the study findings from China, France, Saudi Arabia, and Nigeria, older age is associated with COVID-19 vaccine acceptance (18, 26-30). In contrast to those findings, an international survey conducted among Low- and Middle-Income Countries showed individuals with lower age groups accept the COVID-19 vaccine than older age groups (52).

Regarding sex, males were more likely to accept the COVID-19 vaccine compared to females which is supported by different literature (26, 29, 30, 42, 48, 50, 66, 67). Marital status is also a significant factor in the acceptance of the COVID-19 vaccine. Findings showed that being married is a positive predictor of acceptance of this vaccine (28, 66). The educational status of participants also affects vaccine acceptance. In a study conducted in China, individuals who have the educational status of a master's degree or above are more likely to accept the COVID-19 vaccine than those who have a lower educational status (18). A study conducted in Ethiopia also showed individuals attending secondary education and above were more likely to accept the vaccine compared with those who have a lower level of education (57). Additionally, as revealed by different studies, being a health care worker, having a higher household income, and having full-time employment are also significant factors of COVID-19 vaccine acceptance (26, 29, 68, 69). Contrary to this finding, research conducted by Tran VD and his colleagues revealed that the intention to receive the COVID-19 vaccine was relatively higher among people with lower monthly incomes (39).

#### 2.2.2. Knowledge-related factors

Knowledge status of COVID-19 disease is also associated with the acceptance of its vaccine. As evidenced by some findings, COVID-19 vaccination acceptance is significantly high among individuals who had a good knowledge level regarding COVID-19 disease (52, 70, 71). Knowledge of the COVID-19 vaccine is also associated with acceptance. A study from Ethiopia showed adult populations who had good knowledge about the COVID-19 vaccine were more likely to accept the COVID-19 vaccine as compared to their counterpart (57).

#### 2.2.3. Psychological and behavioral factors

Studies identified different psychological and behavioral factors that affect the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination. In various studies perceiving a high risk of COVID-19 infection affects vaccine acceptance positively (26, 27, 41, 66, 67). Likewise, the perceived severity of COVID-19 infection is also an important factor to accept the COVID-19 vaccination (41). Many studies also revealed that believing in the efficacy of COVID-19 vaccination is associated with COVID-19 vaccination (18, 29, 41, 66). Preventive practice level toward COVID-19 disease is also associated with vaccination acceptance(60, 65). Additionally having a positive attitude towards a vaccine positively affects its acceptance (27, 72).

#### 2.2.4. Clinical factors

Previous COVID-19 infection status has a link with COVID-19 vaccination acceptance. A study showed participants who had tested negative for COVID-19 had a higher odds of willingness to be vaccinated (52). On the other hand, the previous COVID-19 infection status of a close relative/friend has also an association with COVID-19 vaccination acceptance. As revealed by a study finding from Wolaita Sodo, Ethiopia, having a close relative/friend ever infected by COVID-19 has a positive association with COVID-19 vaccination acceptance (59).

#### 2.2.5. Institutional factors

Evidence also found that media exposure to COVID-19 has an association with its vaccine acceptance. Findings from China, the United Kingdom, Turkey, and Australia showed people with greater exposure to media reports about COVID-19 were more likely to accept COVID-19 vaccination (18, 71, 73). (27, 72)On the other hand, other studies discovered that having a positive trust in the healthcare system increases the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination (30, 39). Trust in the government also affects its acceptance. In a study conducted in Nigeria, individuals who trust the government to take control of COVID-19 disease accept its vaccine compared with their counterparts (30).

# **CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK**

The following diagram depicts the relationship between the dependent variable and different identified independent variables required for this particular research.



Figure 1: Conceptual framework of factors associated with acceptance regarding covid-19 vaccination in Bahir Dar city administration, Amhara region, Northwest Ethiopia, 2021/22

(Source: the conceptual framework is developed by the principal investigator by reviewing different literature (18, 26-30, 42, 48, 50, 52, 66-73)

# **3. OBJECTIVES**

# 3.1. General objective

To assess adults' level of COVID-19 vaccination acceptance and associated factors in Bahir Dar City administration, North West Ethiopia in 2022.

# 3.2. Specific objective

- To determine adults' level of COVID-19 vaccination acceptance in Bahir Dar City administration, North West Ethiopia in 2022.
- To identify factors associated with COVID-19 vaccination acceptance among adults in Bahir Dar City administration, North West Ethiopia in 2022.

# 4. METHODS AND MATERIALS

## 4.1. Study design

A community-based cross-sectional study was employed to assess adults' level of COVID-19 vaccination acceptance and associated factors in Bahir Dar City administration, North West Ethiopia.

# 4.2. Study area and period

The study was conducted in the Bahir Dar city administration from March 8-30, 2022. Bahir Dar is the capital city of Amhara National Regional State which is located at a distance of 560 Kilometers from Addis Ababa in the North West direction, which is the capital city of Ethiopia; Its elevation is 1800 meters above sea level. Administratively, the city has been structured into six sub-cities and kebeles; namely; Fasilo, Belay Zelek, Tana, Dagmawi Minilik, Atsie Tewodros, and Gish Abay. According to the Bahir Dar Town Mayor's Office and/or Bahir Dar Zonal Health Department data in 2021/22, the total population of the city is 283, 456 with a composition of 151,365 males and 132,091 females, and with a total household number of 65,920. In the city administration, there are 3 public hospitals; 3 private hospitals, 6 urban health centers, 4 satellite health centers, and 10 health posts (74).

# 4.3. Population

#### 4.3.1. Source population

The Source population was all adults who reside in the Bahir Dar city Administration

#### 4.3.2. Study population

The study population was all adults who are residing in selected sub-cities in Bahir Dar city Administration from whom the study subjects are selected.

#### 4.3.3. Study Unit

The study subject/unit was randomly selected adults from whom the required information or data was drawn.

#### 4.4. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

#### 4.4.1. Inclusion criteria

All adults who reside in the Bahir Dar city and whose ages were greater than 18 years were included in the study.

#### 4.4.2. Exclusion criteria

Adults with mental disorders or other health problems during the data collection time were excluded from the study.

#### 4.5. Sample size determination and sampling procedure

#### 4.5.1. Sample size determination

The sample size was calculated using the single population proportion formula and considering the following assumptions: 95% level of confidence, 5% degree of precision, or margin of error, and the proportion of acceptance towards COVID-19 vaccination from a study conducted in the Gurage zone, Ethiopia, which was 62.6% (57). Using the following formula

$$n = \frac{\left(Z_{\frac{\alpha}{2}}^{\alpha}\right)2P(1-P)}{d^2}$$

Where n= minimum sample size required for the study

Z= standard normal distribution (Z=1.96) with CI of 95% and  $\alpha$  =0.05

P= proportion of vaccination acceptance (p=0.63)

d=is a tolerable margin of error (d=0.05)

$$n = \frac{(1.96)^2 (0.63) (1 - 0.63)}{(0.05)^2} = 358$$

Then, by taking the design effect as 2 and assuming a 10% non-response rate, the final sample size was taken as **788**.

#### 4.5.2. Sampling procedure

A multi-stage sampling technique was used to collect the data. Two (above 30%) sub-cities were selected using a simple random sampling technique (lottery method). A systematic random sampling technique was used to select households from the selected sub-cities by considering

proportional to size allocation. The sampling interval was determined by dividing the total study population by the total sample size (788). So based on this, the sampling interval (K) was calculated to be  $24,048/788 \approx 30$ . The first participant was selected randomly by a lottery method from 1 to 30, and the next respondent was chosen at regular intervals (every 30). When there were two and above adults from each household, one was selected by lottery method for the study. On the condition that when study participants were not available at the first visit, these adults were revisited once the same day or the following day. If not available again, the study participant was considered a non-respondent.



Figure 2: Schematic presentation of sampling procedure used when participants were selected at Bahir Dar city, Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2021/22.

# 4.6. Study Variables

## 4.6.1. Dependent variable

The dependent variable was adult's acceptance of the COVID-19 Vaccine

#### 4.6.2. Independent variables

#### 4.6.2.1. Socio-demographic variable

Gender, age, marital status, occupation, monthly income, and education level were the independent variables

#### 4.6.2.2. Knowledge-related factors

Knowledge about COVID-19 disease, knowledge of the COVID-19 vaccine

#### 4.6.2.3.Psychological and behavioral factors

Perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, attitude towards COVID-19 disease, preventive practice towards COVID-19 disease, attitude towards COVID-19 vaccine

#### 4.6.2.4.Clinical factors

Previous COVID-19 infection status of respondents and family members

# 4.6.2.5.Institutional factors

Exposure to mass media, lack of trust in government, lack of trust in the health care system

# 4.7. Operational and terms of definitions

Acceptance towards Covid-19 vaccination: When the respondent was found to be interested (willing to be vaccinated) the respondent was considered as accepting to be vaccinated. When He/she was not interested, the respondent was considered as not accepting to be vaccinated (57).

**Knowledge of Covid-19 disease:** The overall knowledge of Covid-19 disease was categorized, using Bloom's cut-off point, as good if the score was between 80 and 100% ( $\geq$ 9.6 out of 12 scores), moderate if the score was between 60 and 79% (between 7.2-9.5 out of 12 scores), and poor if the score was less than 60% ( $\leq$  6.5 out of 12 scores) (75, 76).

**Knowledge of Covid-19 vaccine:** The overall knowledge towards Covid-19 vaccine was categorized, using Bloom's cut-off point, as good if the score was between 80 and 100% ( $\geq$ 4 out

of 5 scores), moderate if the score was between 60 and 79% (between 3-3.9 out of 5 scores), and poor if the score was less than 60% (scores  $\leq$  3 out of 5) (75, 76).

Attitude towards Covid-19 disease: The overall attitude toward Covid-19 disease was categorized, using Bloom's cut-off point, as good if the score was between 80 and 100% ( $\geq$ 32 out of 40 scores), moderate if the score was between 60 and 79% (between 24-31.9 out of 40 scores), and poor if the score was less than 60% (scores  $\leq$  24 out of 40) (75, 76).

Attitude towards Covid-19 vaccine: The overall attitude towards Covid-19 vaccine was categorized, using Bloom's cut-off point, as good if the score was between 80 and 100% (scores  $\geq$ 24 out of 30), moderate if the score was between 60 and 79% (scores between 18-23.9 out of 30), and poor if the score was less than 60% (scores  $\leq$  18 out of 30) (75, 76).

**Practice towards Covid-19 preventive measures:** the overall practice level was categorized, using Bloom's cut-off point, as good, moderate, and poor if the score was between 80 and 100% (scores  $\geq$ 10.4 out of 13), 60 and 79% (scores between 7.8-10.3 out of 13), and less than 60% (scores  $\leq$  7.8 out of 13) respectively (75, 76).

**Perceived susceptibility of COVID-19 disease**: categorized as high when the sum score of its items was equal to and above the mean value (10.76), and low when the sum score of its items was below the mean value (77).

**Perceived severity of COVID-19 disease**: categorized as high when the sum score of its items was equal to and above the mean value (11.98), and low when the sum score of its items is below the mean value (77).

#### 4.8. Data collection tool and method

#### 4.8.1. Data collection tool

A structured interviewer-administered questionnaire was used to collect the data. The questionnaire was developed after reviewing different pieces of literature on the topic. The questionnaire had 6 parts and comprised questions covering socio-demographic and economic characteristics, knowledge, attitude, and practice related to covid-19 and covid-19 vaccine. Part one; socio-demographic characteristics and economic variables; (09 items), part two; COVID-19 related questions; (16 items), part three-five; questions about knowledge (12 items), attitude (7

items), and Practice toward WHO Recommended COVID-19 preventive measures (9 items) and part six; question items related with the COVID-19 vaccine (13 items).

#### 4.8.2. Data collection method

The questionnaire was developed in English then translated into Amharic (local language) then back to English to check the consistency. Ten BSc nurses were recruited as data collectors and three supervisors who can speak the local language were followed & supervised the data collection process. The data were obtained at the household level through face-to-face interviews. The adult participant who was participating in the study signed the informed consent and then the interview was followed in a quiet and spacious area.

#### 4.9. Data quality assurance

To assure the data quality, training had been given to both data collectors and supervisors on the purpose of the study, data collection technique, and tool by the principal investigator for two days. Moreover, the questionnaire was pre-tested on adults (5% of the total sample size) who were residing in Bahir Dar city administration other than the selected sub-cities for this study. During data collection, questionnaires had been reviewed by supervisors for ensuring the completeness of questions every day and appropriate measures were taken. The principal investigator and the supervisors were closely monitoring the data collection process. Once data was entered, basic quality assurance measures like checking for any missing data and outliers were done.

#### 4.10. Data processing and analysis

Data were coded, and entered into Epi-data version 4.6 and then had been exported to SPSS version 23.0 for analysis. After data cleaning, descriptive statistics such as frequencies, proportions, and summary statistics were computed and presented using tables, graphs, and texts. Model fitness was checked by the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit test. The p-value for the test was 0.205 which was greater than 0.05 indicating that the model fitted the data. The binary logistic regression analysis has been done to identify factors related to the acceptance of the COVID-19 vaccine as the dependent variable. All variables that showed a p < 0.25 during the bivariable analysis were taken as independent variables for the final model. Those with p<0.05 at multivariable logistic regression analysis were considered statistically significant.

#### 4.11. Ethical Consideration

Ethical clearance had been obtained from the Institutional Review Board of the College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Bahir Dar University. A permission letter was obtained from Bahir Dar City Administration. Full information had been provided to the study participants regarding the purpose and nature of the research and then written informed consent was obtained from each participant. Participation in the study was voluntary, and participants had been well informed about their right even not to participate in the study and the right to withdraw from the study at any point of the interview. Moreover, the confidentiality of the information was assured using anonymous questionnaires and kept the data in a secured place.

# 5. RESULTS

# 5.1. Socio-demographic characteristics of the study participants

In this study a total of 788 participants were expected to have participated; among them, data were collected from 728 randomly selected participants providing a 92.4% response rate. Of the total respondents, more than half (54.9%) were males. The median age of the participants was 31(IQR 22 - 41) years. Greater than half (56.6%) of the participants were single, while a small proportion (5.4%) were widowed/widower. Above two-fifths of the participants (43.4%) were employed in either the public or private sectors. The next highest percentage (31.3%) was unemployed, while the remaining 14.0%, 8.0%, and 3.3% were daily laborers, merchants, and farmers, respectively. In terms of educational attainment, a small proportion of the participants (9.6%) were uneducated, whereas the majority (66.9%) had completed higher education and above (Table 1).

Variables		Frequency	Percent
Sex	Male	400	54.9
	Female	328	45.1
Age (Years)	18-25	243	33.4
	26-35	212	29.1
	>35	273	37.5
Marital status	Married	203	27.9
	Single	412	56.6
	Widowed/widower	39	5.4
	Separated/Divorced	74	10.2
Religion	Orthodox	643	88.3
	Protestant	15	2.1
	Muslim	54	7.4
	Catholic	16	2.2

Table 1: Sociodemographic characteristics of the study participants residing in Bahir Darcity administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=728)

Educational level	Unable to read and write	70	9.6
	Primary school (grade 1-8)	71	9.8
	High school (grade 9-12)	100	13.7
	Higher education	487	66.9
Occupational status	Unemployed	228	31.3
	Daily laborer	102	14.0
	Farmer	24	3.3
	Employed	316	43.4
	Merchant	58	8.0
Monthly income (Ethiopian birr)	≤2000	194	26.6
	2001 - 4000	200	27.5
	>4000	334	45.9

# 5.2. Psychological and Behavioral factors

# 5.2.1. Knowledge of COVID-19 disease and vaccine among study participants

Slightly more than one-third of the study participants 271(37.2%) had good knowledge of the COVID-19 disease; 193 (26.5%) had poor knowledge, and the remaining 264(36.3%) had moderate knowledge. Regarding the COVID-19 vaccine, 67 (9.2%), 275 (37.8%), and 386 (53%) of study participants had good, moderate, and poor knowledge respectively (Figure 3).

# 5.2.2. Attitude toward COVID-19 disease and vaccine among study participants

Out of the total participants, 12 (1.6%) of them had a good attitude about the COVID-19 disease; most of them 557 (76.5%) had a poor attitude, and the remaining 159 (21.8%) had a moderate attitude. Of the participants, only 203 (27.9%) of them had a good attitude toward the COVID-19 vaccine. The remaining 374 (51.4%) and 151 (20.7%) had a poor and moderate attitude towards it, respectively (Figure 3).

# 5.2.3. Practice toward COVID-19 prevention measures among participants

Of the total participants, 63 (8.7%) and 136 (18.7%) had good and moderate COVID-19 prevention practices, respectively, whereas the majority of 529 (72.7%) had poor COVID-19 prevention practices (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Percentage distribution of knowledge-related and behavioral characteristics of study participants residing in Bahir Dar city administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022.

# 5.2.4. Perceived Susceptibility & Perceived Severity

Three hundred twelve (42.9%) of the study participants showed low perceived susceptibility to the COVID-19 disease, while 416 (57.1%) had high perceived susceptibility. On the other hand, 494 (67.9%) and 234 (32.1%) of them had a high and low degree of perceived severity of COVID-19 disease respectively (table 2).

Table 2: Psychological characteristics of the study participants residing in Bahir Dar city administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=728)

Variables		Frequency	%
Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 disease	High	416	57.1
	Low	312	42.9
Perceived severity of COVID-19 disease	High	494	67.9
	Low	234	32.1

# 5.3. Clinical characteristics of study participants

Forty-eight (6.6%) of the respondents reported that their family members or friends were infected with COVID-19 and 55 (7.6%) reported that their family members or friends died due to COVID-19. Moreover, 276 (37.9%) of study participants were living with people at risk of severe COVID-19 disease. Out of all participants, 31 (4.3%) were currently infected with COVID-19, and 23 (3.2%) were previously infected with COVID-19 (Table 3).

Table 3: Clinical characteristics of study participants residing in Bahir Dar city administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=728)

Variables		Frequency	%
Family members or friends died due to COVID-19	Yes	55	7.6
	No	673	92.4
Participants living with people at risk of severe	Yes	276	37.9
COVID-19 disease	No	452	62.1
Participants currently Infected with COVID-19	Yes	31	4.3
	No	697	95.7
Participants previously infected with COVID-19	Yes	23	3.2
	No	705	96.8
A family member or friend has been infected with	Yes	48	6.6
COVID-19	No	680	93.4

# 5.4. Institution-related characteristics of study participants

Of the total participants, only 260 (35.7%) of them believed that the government can control the COVID-19 pandemic with the current situation and facilities. On the other hand, 275 (37.8%) of them thought that the healthcare system can control the COVID-19 pandemic. Regarding getting information about the COVID-19 pandemic, more than half (51.0%) got it from the World Health Organization (WHO) whereas a small proportion (6.6%) of study participants got it from the Internet and social media. On the other hand, out of the total participants of the study, 418 (57.4%) of the participants believed that reported cases of COVID-19 were exaggerated (Table 4).

Variables		Frequency	%
Trust the government can control the COVID-19	Yes	260	35.7
	No	468	64.3
Trust the healthcare system can control the	Yes	275	37.8
COVID-19	No	453	62.2
The main source of information on pandemic	Yes	371	51.0
COVID-19 is the WHO	No	357	49.0
The main source of information on pandemic	Yes	103	14.1
COVID-19 is the Ministry of Health	No	625	85.9
The main source of information on pandemic	Yes	216	29.7
COVID-19 is News and Media	No	512	70.3
The main source of information on pandemic	Yes	48	6.6
COVID-19 is the Internet and social media	No	680	93.4
Those who are confident with the advice given	Completely confident	188	25.8
by the government related to COVID-19	Fairly Confident	305	41.9
	Somewhat Confident	168	23.1
	Slightly Confident	23	3.2
	Not Confident at all	44	6.0
Those who believed that reported cases of	Yes	418	57.4
COVID-19 are exaggerated	No	122	16.8
	May be	188	25.8

Table 4: Institution-related characteristics of study participants residing in Bahir Dar cityadministration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=728)

# 5.5. Acceptance of Covid-19 vaccination

In this study, the acceptance rate of COVID-19 vaccination was 62.0% (95% CI: 58.3%, 65.5%). Lack of trust, safety issues, and other concerns about the vaccine were identified as a reason for refusing to be vaccinated (table 5).

Table 5: Reasons for not accepting the COVID-19 vaccine among study participants residing in Bahir Dar city administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022 (n=277)

Reasons for not accepting the COVID-19 vaccine	Frequency	%
Lack of trust	130	17.9
Safety issues	124	17
other concerns <sup>#</sup>	23	3.2

#= others include don't have enough information and prefer other ways of protection

# 5.6. Factors associated with COVID-19 vaccination acceptance

In bi-variable logistic regression analysis, eighteen independent variables listed in the regression table below were found to have P-value < 0.25. Subsequently, these variables were entered into the multivariable analysis. In multivariable analysis, educational status, occupational status, living with people at risk of severe COVID-19 disease, perceived susceptibility status, perceived severity status, knowledge of COVID-19 disease, practice on COVID-19 disease prevention, and knowledge of COVID-19 vaccine showed statistically significant association with acceptance of the covid-19 vaccine.

Accordingly, the odds of accepting the COVID-19 vaccination among adults who had an educational status of grade 9-12 and completed higher education were 2.7 and 3 times higher compared to that of adults who were not able to read and write, respectively [AOR=2.67, 95% CI: (1.14, 6.27)] and [AOR=3.05, 95% CI: (1.49, 6.24)]. Likewise, the odds of accepting the COVID-19 vaccination among daily laborers was 2 times higher than that of individuals who were unemployed [AOR=2.09(1.06, 4.13)]. On the other hand, the odds of accepting the COVID-19 vaccination among participants who were living with people at risk of severe COVID-19 disease was 3 times higher compared with their counterparts [AOR = 3.12, 95% CI: (1.98, 4.91)].

Regarding the perception, the odds of accepting the Covid-19 vaccination among participants who had high perceived susceptibility was 2 times higher compared with those who had low perceived susceptibility [AOR = 2.02, 95% CI: (1.26, 3.24)]. Whereas, the odds of accepting the Covid-19 vaccination among participants who had high perceived severity was 3.4 times higher compared with those who had low perceived severity [AOR = 3.39, 95% CI: (2.12, 5.41)].

On the other hand, the odds of accepting the Covid-19 vaccination among participants who had good knowledge of COVID-19 disease was 2.9 times higher compared with those who had poor knowledge of COVID-19 disease [AOR = 2.85, 95% CI: (1.68, 4.83)]. Regarding the practice of COVID-19 prevention, the odds of accepting the COVID-19 vaccination among participants who had good practice was 3 times higher compared with those who had poor practice [AOR = 3.10, 95% CI: (1.46, 6.59)].

In this study analysis, the odds of accepting the Covid-19 vaccination among participants who had good knowledge of the COVID-19 vaccine were 2.5 times higher compared with those who had poor knowledge of the COVID-19 vaccine [AOR = 2.47, 95% CI: (1.16, 5.27) (Table 5).

		COVID-19		Crude odds ratio	Adjusted odds ratio
		Vaccination		(95% CI)	(95% C.I)
		acceptance			
Variables		Yes	No	_	
Sex	Male	240	160	0.83 (0.63, 1.13)	0.70(0.46, 1.06)
	Female	211	117	1	1
	18 - 25	156	87	1.45(1.02, 2.07)*	1.14(0.70, 1.85)
Age (years)	26 - 35	144	68	1.71(1.18, 2.49)**	1.55(0.95, 2.51)
	>35	151	122	1	1
Marital status	Married	128	75	0.63(0.35,1.14)	0.89(0.42, 1.89)
	Single	246	166	0.55(0.32, 0.95)*	1.02(0.50, 2.08)
	Widowed	23	16	0.53(0.24, 1.21)	0.52(0.19, 1.43)
	Separated/divorced	54	20	1	1
Religion	Orthodox	396	247	1.60(0.59, 4.33)	1.59(0.41, 6.25)
	Protestant	10	5	2.00(0.47, 8.56)	2.02(0.30, 13.38)
	Muslim	37	17	2.18(0.70, 6.78)	2.34(0.50, 11.02)
	Catholic	8	8	1	1
Educational level	Unable to read and write	21	49	1	1
	Grade 1-8	45	26	4.04(2.00, 8.16)***	2.10(0.82, 5.36)
	High school (9-12)	66	34	4.53(2.35, 8.74)***	2.67(1.14, 6.27)*
	Higher education	319	168	4.43(2.57, 7.64)***	3.05(1.49, 6.24)**
Occupational status	Unemployed	116	112	1	1
	Daily laborer	72	30	2.32(1.41, 3.82))***	2.09(1.06, 4.13)*
	Farmer	8	16	0.48(0.20, 1.17)	0.66(0.20, 2.18)
	Employed	233	83	2.71(1.89, 3.89)***	1.54(0.95, 2.51)
	Merchant	22	36	0.59(0.33, 1.07)	0.73(0.35, 1.52)
Monthly income	≤2000	99	95	0.47(0.33, 0.68)***	0.72(0.42, 1.21)
(Ethiopian birr)	2001 - 4000	122	78	0.71(0.49, 1.02)	0.76(0.47, 1.24)
	>4000	230	104	1	1
Family members/	Yes	41	14	1.88(1.00, 3.51)	1.86(0.81, 4.24)
friends died due to	No	410	262	1	1
COVID-19		410	203	1	
Living with people	Yes	227	40	177(370,676) ***	3.12(1.98, 4.91) ***
at risk of severe		221	47	4.72(3.29, 0.70)	
COVID-19 disease	No	224	228	1	1
Trust the government	Yes	203	57	3.16(2.24, 4.46)***	1.51(0.94, 2.42)
-	No	248	220	1	1
Trust the health care	Yes	210	65	2.84(2.04, 3.97) ***	1.53(0.97, 2.43)
System	No	241	212	1	1
Perceived	High	327	89	5.57(4.02, 7.72)***	2.02(1.26, 3.24)**
Susceptibility	Low	124	188	1	

 Table 6: Factors associated with acceptance of Covid-19 Vaccine among study participants

 at Bahir Dar City Administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2022

Perceived Severity	High	373	121	6.17(4.39, 8.67)***	3.39(2.12, 5.41)***
	Low	78	156	1	1
Knowledge_COVID1 Good		196	75	3.39(2.30, 5.01)***	2.85(1.68, 4.83)***
9 disease	Moderate	171	93	2.39(1.63, 3.49)***	1.20(0.71, 2.01)
	Poor	84	109	1	1
Attitude_COVID19	Good	5	7	0.37(0.16, 1.17)	1.13(0.20, 6.26)
disease	Moderate	78	81	0.50(0.35, 0.71)***	0.69(0.42, 1.14)
	Poor	368	189	1	1
Practice on COVID19Good		48	15	2.14(1.17, 3.92)*	3.10(1.46, 6.59)**
disease prevention	Moderate	86	50	1.15(0.78, 1.70)	1.50(0.90, 2.49)
	Poor	317	212	1	1
Knowledge on	Good	52	15	3.00(1.63, 5.51)***	2.47(1.16, 5.27)*
COVID19 vaccine	Moderate	192	83	2.00(1.44, 2.77)***	1.25(0.81, 1.94)
	Poor	207	179	1	1
Attitude on COVID19Good		117	86	0.65(0.46, 0.93)*	1.57(0.94, 2.62)
vaccine	Moderate	81	70	0.55(0.38, 0.81)**	0.99(0.60, 1.66)
	Poor	253	121	1	1

 $\overline{\text{Abbreviation: COR, crude odds ratio, * = P-value < 0.05, ** = P-value < 0.01, *** = P-value < 0.001}$
#### 6. **DISCUSSION**

This study aimed to assess the proportion of adults' acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination and associated factors in the Bahir Dar City Administration. The acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination was 62.0%. The finding is consistent with previous studies conducted in Gurage Zone, Ethiopia (57). It is also similar to studies done in the United Kingdom (17), China (18), Saudi Arabia (28), and the Arab world (48).

On the other hand, it is lower than a study finding conducted in low and middle-income countries (52) and Sub-Saharan Africa (54). The possible explanation for this inconsistency might be methodological and time differences. Their data collection method was via mobile phone and online platforms like Facebook, WhatsApp, Instagram, and other social media which creates a bias towards recruiting a sample with higher educational attainment and literacy. Additionally, such participants may have better information regarding the COVID-19 disease as well as its vaccine because of internet exposure. All these factors ultimately increase the acceptance of the vaccination program in the aforementioned studies. Similarly, this finding was lower than a study conducted in different states of America (41, 42), Ecuador (43), different parts of China (14, 21, 44), Europe (47), France (26), India (51), and global study (23). The discrepancy might be due to the difference in characteristics of study populations such as educational status and socioeconomic status. The time difference is also another reason that the above-mentioned studies were conducted while the case and death rates of Covid-19 were higher, which might influence people's health perceptions and, as a result, their acceptance of preventive measures including vaccination.

In contrast, the adults' acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination in the current study is higher than the study done in Wolaita Sodo town, Ethiopia (58). This gap may result from the different educational backgrounds of the study participants. Compared to the previous study, a higher proportion of participants in the present study (66.9 %) had a college diploma or above. Considering better educational level is associated with acceptance, as shown by the current study and others (18, 26-30), this difference may increase the vaccination acceptability in the current study. On the other hand, it is believed that various governmental initiatives over time may increase people's acceptability of the vaccination. It is also higher than the studies done in Nigeria (16), the Democratic Republic of Congo (55), and Uganda (56). This inconsistency might be due to differences in participants' characteristics in terms of educational status. For example, in the study from the Democratic Republic of Congo, only 29% of their study participants attain higher education which is much lower than the current study. This study finding is also higher than the studies conducted in Russia (39), America (40), Jordan (45), Qatar (49), and Kuwait (50). The source of the discrepancy might be the difference between the participants' COVID=19 preventive practice level and sociodemographic attributes like educational attainment. In comparison to the aforementioned studies, the level of preventative practice is lower in the current study. This may boost the need for vaccination as a COVID-19 disease protective mechanism.

The study also identified variables like educational level, occupational status, perceived susceptibility and severity of COVID-19 disease, living with a person at risk of COVID-19 disease, knowledge of COVID-19 disease, practice on COVID-19 disease prevention, and knowledge of COVID-19 vaccine as factors significantly associated with COVID-19 vaccination acceptance.

In the present study, the odds of accepting the Covid-19 vaccination was higher among participants who completed higher education or High school (9-12) compared with uneducated participants. This finding is supported by studies conducted in Ethiopia (57) and China (18). The possible rationale for this link could be that in most cases, educated people read various updates on the internet, in magazines, newsletters, and other forms of media to gain a thorough awareness of the disease and its vaccination. This will have a favorable impact on Covid-19 vaccine acceptability. This finding implies that raising educational attainment may be one method for immunizing the adult population and reducing the impact of any diseases on the world.

Regarding occupation, daily laborers were more likely to accept COVID-19 vaccination than those who were unemployed. This may be explained by the fact that daily laborers are more likely than unemployed people to come into contact with people who have the COVID-19 disease because of the nature of their jobs. As a result, they will accept the COVID-19 vaccine more readily to lower their risk of contracting the disease and its financial effects on them and their family. On the other hand, individuals who lived with a person at risk of severe COVID-19 disease had a higher acceptance of the COVID-19 vaccination. This could be due to people who lived with someone who was at high risk of severe COVID-19 disease wanting to lower their risk of catching the disease to prevent future disease transmission to those high-risk people.

As revealed by the result of this study the odds of accepting the Covid-19 vaccination were significantly higher among participants who had high perceived susceptibility and severity towards COVID-19 disease. This result is in line with other literature (26, 27, 41, 66, 67). If individuals have a greater perceived risk of getting infected and developing severe disease, this will motivate them to be vaccinated. According to the health belief model (HBM), an individual's probability of adopting a specific health behavior is driven by his or her belief in a personal threat of illness or disease which supports our result (78).

This study showed that good knowledge of COVID-19 disease is positively associated with the acceptance of the COVID-19 vaccination. This finding is consistent with the studies conducted in the U.S., Vietnam, and Australia (52, 70, 71). Therefore, increasing knowledge about COVID-19 disease should be an effective way to increase acceptance of the vaccine.

In our study, the odds of accepting the Covid-19 vaccination among participants who had good practice in COVID-19 prevention were higher acceptance of the vaccination compared with those who had poor prevention practice. On the other hand, good knowledge of the COVID-19 vaccine positively affects its acceptance which is similar to other findings (27, 57, 72). This could be rationalized by the fact that if they had a better understanding of the vaccine, they would be more aware of the COVID-19 vaccination program's benefits and ultimately accept it. This study indicates that creating awareness of the COVID-19 vaccine will increase the utilization of the COVID-19 vaccine among the adult population.

### 7. LIMITATION OF THE STUDY

The lack of qualitative data supplementation in this study limited its ability to explore sociocultural barriers to adults' refusal of the COVID-19 vaccine.

### 8. CONCLUSION

According to this study, approximately two out of three adults accept the COVID-19 vaccination, which can be considered as low. Higher educational status, daily laborers in terms of occupation, living with people at risk of severe COVID-19 disease, high perceived susceptibility and severity of COVID-19 disease, good knowledge of COVID19 disease, good practice on COVID-19 prevention, and good knowledge of COVID-19 vaccine were factors that were significantly associated with the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination.

### 9. RECOMMENDATIONS

Since low vaccine knowledge is associated with acceptance, health institutions should better convey clear and adequate information about the vaccine's benefits, effectiveness, safety, and adverse effects to promote vaccine knowledge and acceptability. Besides this, health professionals need to provide special consideration to those who have a low awareness of the risk and severity of Covid-19 illness, lack of knowledge about the disease and its vaccine, poor preventive practice towards COVID-19 disease, have a negative attitude toward the vaccine, and for those who are daily laborers and uneducated individuals.

The Amhara Regional Health Bureau and Non-Governmental Organizations need to support and integrate awareness creation activities toward COVID-19 disease and vaccination at all health facility levels in an organized way.

For future researchers, it is appreciated to conduct research on this topic by broadening the scope and study area to better understand the problem.

### **10. REFERENCES**

1. World Health O. Clinical management of COVID-19: interim guidance, 27 May 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2020 2020. Report No.: Contract No.: WHO/2019nCoV/clinical/2020.5.

2. Nicola M, Alsafi Z, Sohrabi C, Kerwan A, Al-Jabir A, Iosifidis C. & Agha, R.(2020). The socio-economic implications of the coronavirus and COVID-19 pandemic: a review. International Journal of Surgery. 2020.

3. Coronavirus (COVID-19) [cited 2022 july]. Available from: https://covid19.who.int/.

4. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard [Internet]. 2022 [cited July, 2022]. Available from: https://covid19.who.int/.

ETHIOPIA COVID-19 MONITORING PLATFORM [Internet]. 2022 [cited July, 17
 2022]. Available from: https://www.covid19.et/covid-19/.

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) [Internet]. 2020 [cited August, 2020]. Available
 https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/coronavirus/symptoms-causes/syc-20479963.

7. WHO. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public. 2021.

8. Status of COVID-19 Vaccines within WHO EUL/PQ evaluation process [Internet]. 2022 [cited July,17,2022]. Available from: https://extranet.who.int/pqweb/sites/default/files/documents/Status\_COVID\_VAX\_07July2022.p df.

9. COVID-19 vaccine tracker and landscape [Internet]. 2022 [cited July, 15 2022]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/draft-landscape-of-covid-19candidate-vaccines.

10. WHO. Ethiopia introduces COVID-19 vaccine in a national launching ceremony. 2021.

11. Ethiopia-COVID19 Vaccine Tracker [Internet]. 2022 [cited 13 August 2022]. Available from: https://covid19.trackvaccines.org/country/ethiopia/.

12. Harrison EA, Wu JW. Vaccine confidence in the time of COVID-19. European journal of epidemiology. 2020;35(4):325-30.

13. Wong MCS, Wong ELY, Huang J, Cheung AWL, Law K, Chong MKC, et al. Acceptance of the COVID-19 vaccine based on the health belief model: A population-based

survey in Hong Kong. Vaccine. 2021 Feb 12;39(7):1148-56. PubMed PMID: 33461834. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7832076. Epub 2021/01/20. eng.

14. Wang J, Jing R, Lai X, Zhang H, Lyu Y, Knoll MD, et al. Acceptance of COVID-19 Vaccination during the COVID-19 Pandemic in China. Vaccines. 2020 Aug 27;8(3). PubMed PMID: 32867224. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7565574. Epub 2020/09/02. eng.

15. Urrunaga-Pastor D, Bendezu-Quispe G, Herrera-Añazco P, Uyen-Cateriano A, Toro-Huamanchumo CJ, Rodriguez-Morales AJ, et al. Cross-sectional analysis of COVID-19 vaccine intention, perceptions and hesitancy across Latin America and the Caribbean. Travel medicine and infectious disease. 2021 May-Jun;41:102059. PubMed PMID: 33848692. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC8063600. Epub 2021/04/14. eng.

16. Tobin EA, Okonofua M, Adeke A, Obi A. Willingness to accept a COVID-19 vaccine in Nigeria: a population-based cross-sectional study. Cent Afr J Public Health. 2021;7(2):53.

17. Sherman SM, Smith LE, Sim J, Amlôt R, Cutts M, Dasch H, et al. COVID-19 vaccination intention in the UK: results from the COVID-19 vaccination acceptability study (CoVAccS), a nationally representative cross-sectional survey. Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics. 2021 Jun 3;17(6):1612-21. PubMed PMID: 33242386. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC8115754. Epub 2020/11/27. eng.

18. Gan L, Chen Y, Hu P, Wu D, Zhu Y, Tan J, et al. Willingness to Receive SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination and Associated Factors among Chinese Adults: A Cross Sectional Survey. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2021 Feb 18;18(4). PubMed PMID: 33670821. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7922368. Epub 2021/03/07. eng.

 19. Fisher KA, Bloomstone SJ, Walder J, Crawford S, Fouayzi H, Mazor KM. Attitudes Toward a Potential SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine : A Survey of U.S. Adults. Annals of internal medicine. 2020 Dec 15;173(12):964-73. PubMed PMID: 32886525. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7505019 www.acponline.org/authors/icmje/ConflictOfInterestForms.do?msNum=M20-3569. Epub 2020/09/05. eng.

 Al-Qerem WA, Jarab AS. COVID-19 Vaccination Acceptance and Its Associated Factors Among a Middle Eastern Population. Frontiers in public health. 2021;9:632914. PubMed PMID: 33643995. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7902782. Epub 2021/03/02. eng.

21. Lin Y, Hu Z, Zhao Q, Alias H, Danaee M, Wong LP. Understanding COVID-19 vaccine demand and hesitancy: A nationwide online survey in China. PLoS neglected tropical diseases.

2020 Dec;14(12):e0008961. PubMed PMID: 33332359. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7775119. Epub 2020/12/18. eng.

22. Guidry JPD, Laestadius LI, Vraga EK, Miller CA, Perrin PB, Burton CW, et al. Willingness to get the COVID-19 vaccine with and without emergency use authorization. American journal of infection control. 2021 Feb;49(2):137-42. PubMed PMID: 33227323. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7677682. Epub 2020/11/24. eng.

23. Lazarus JV, Ratzan SC, Palayew A, Gostin LO, Larson HJ, Rabin K, et al. A global survey of potential acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine. Nature medicine. 2021;27(2):225-8.

24. Mannan DKA, Farhana KM. Knowledge, attitude and acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine: A global cross-sectional study. International Research Journal of Business and Social Science. 2020;6(4).

25. Mose A, Wasie A, Shitu S, Haile K, Timerga A, Melis T, et al. Determinants of COVID-19 vaccine acceptance in Ethiopia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS one. 2022;17(6):e0269273.

26. Detoc M, Bruel S, Frappe P, Tardy B, Botelho-Nevers E, Gagneux-Brunon A. Intention to participate in a COVID-19 vaccine clinical trial and to get vaccinated against COVID-19 in France during the pandemic. Vaccine. 2020 Oct 21;38(45):7002-6. PubMed PMID: 32988688. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7498238. Epub 2020/09/30. eng.

27. Guidry JPD, Laestadius LI, Vraga EK, Miller CA, Perrin PB, Burton CW, et al. Willingness to get the COVID-19 vaccine with and without emergency use authorization. Am J Infect Control. 2021;49(2):137-42. PubMed PMID: 33227323. Epub 11/20. eng.

Al-Mohaithef M, Padhi BK. Determinants of COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance in Saudi
 Arabia: A Web-Based National Survey. Journal of multidisciplinary healthcare. 2020;13:1657 63. PubMed PMID: 33262600. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7686470. Epub 2020/12/03. eng.

29. Machida M, Nakamura I, Kojima T, Saito R, Nakaya T, Hanibuchi T, et al. Acceptance of a COVID-19 Vaccine in Japan during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Vaccines (Basel). 2021 Mar 3;9(3). PubMed PMID: 33802285. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC8002097. Epub 2021/04/04. eng.

30. Tobin EA, Okonofua M, Azeke A. Acceptance of a COVID-19 Vaccine in Nigeria: A Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study. Annals of Medical and Health Sciences Research. 2021;11(5).

31. Wake AD. The Willingness to Receive COVID-19 Vaccine and Its Associated Factors: "Vaccination Refusal Could Prolong the War of This Pandemic"–A Systematic Review. Risk Management and Healthcare Policy. 2021;14:2609.

32. De Figueiredo A, Simas C, Karafillakis E, Paterson P, Larson HJ. Mapping global trends in vaccine confidence and investigating barriers to vaccine uptake: a large-scale retrospective temporal modelling study. The Lancet. 2020;396(10255):898-908.

33. Reuben RC, Danladi MM, Saleh DA, Ejembi PE. Knowledge, attitudes and practices towards COVID-19: an epidemiological survey in North-Central Nigeria. Journal of community health. 2021;46(3):457-70.

34. Kumar D, Chandra R, Mathur M, Samdariya S, Kapoor N. Vaccine hesitancy: understanding better to address better. Israel journal of health policy research. 2016;5(1):1-8.

35. Zard M, San Lau L, Bowser DM, Fouad FM, Lucumí DI, Samari G, et al. Leave no one behind: ensuring access to COVID-19 vaccines for refugee and displaced populations. Nature Medicine. 2021;27(5):747-9.

36. Coronavirus (COVID-19) [Internet]. 2021 [cited August, 2021]. Available from: https://covid19.who.int/.

37. Nicola M, Alsafi Z, Sohrabi C, Kerwan A, Al-Jabir A, Iosifidis C, et al. The socioeconomic implications of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19): A review. International journal of surgery. 2020;78:185-93.

38. Dong E. Hongru Du, and Lauren Gardner. 2020.". An Interactive Web-Based Dashboard to Track COVID-19 in Real Time.30120-1.

39. Tran VD, Pak TV, Gribkova EI, Galkina GA, Loskutova EE, Dorofeeva VV, et al. Determinants of COVID-19 vaccine acceptance in a high infection-rate country: a cross-sectional study in Russia. Pharmacy Practice (Granada). 2021;19(1).

40. Salmon DA, Dudley MZ, Brewer J, Kan L, Gerber JE, Budigan H, et al. COVID-19 vaccination attitudes, values and intentions among United States adults prior to emergency use authorization. Vaccine. 2021;39(19):2698-711.

41. Reiter PL, Pennell ML, Katz ML. Acceptability of a COVID-19 vaccine among adults in the United States: How many people would get vaccinated? Vaccine. 2020;38(42):6500-7. PubMed PMID: 32863069. Epub 08/20. eng.

42. Malik AA, McFadden SM, Elharake J, Omer SB. Determinants of COVID-19 vaccine acceptance in the US. EClinicalMedicine. 2020;26:100495.

43. Sarasty O, Carpio CE, Hudson D, Guerrero-Ochoa PA, Borja I. The demand for a COVID-19 vaccine in Ecuador. Vaccine. 2020;38(51):8090-8. PubMed PMID: 33187765. Epub 11/06. eng.

44. Chen M, Li Y, Chen J, Wen Z, Feng F, Zou H, et al. An online survey of the attitude and willingness of Chinese adults to receive COVID-19 vaccination. Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics. 2021 Jul 3;17(7):2279-88. PubMed PMID: 33522405. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC8189089. Epub 2021/02/02. eng.

45. El-Elimat T, AbuAlSamen MM, Almomani BA, Al-Sawalha NA, Alali FQ. Acceptance and attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccines: a cross-sectional study from Jordan. Plos one. 2021;16(4):e0250555.

46. Harapan H, Wagner AL, Yufika A, Winardi W, Anwar S, Gan AK, et al. Acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine in Southeast Asia: a cross-sectional study in Indonesia. Frontiers in public health. 2020;8.

47. Neumann-Böhme S, Varghese NE, Sabat I, Barros PP, Brouwer W, van Exel J, et al. Once we have it, will we use it? A European survey on willingness to be vaccinated against COVID-19. Springer; 2020.

48. Kaadan MI, Abdulkarim J, Chaar M, Zayegh O, Keblawi MA. Determinants of COVID-19 vaccine acceptance in the Arab world: a cross-sectional study. Global Health Research and Policy. 2021;6(1):1-7.

49. Alabdulla M, Reagu SM, Al- Khal A, Elzain M, Jones RM. COVID- 19 vaccine hesitancy and attitudes in Qatar: A national cross- sectional survey of a migrant- majority population. Influenza and other respiratory viruses. 2021;15(3):361-70.

50. Alqudeimat Y, Alenezi D, AlHajri B, Alfouzan H, Almokhaizeem Z, Altamimi S, et al. Acceptance of a COVID-19 Vaccine and Its Related Determinants among the General Adult Population in Kuwait. Medical principles and practice : international journal of the Kuwait University, Health Science Centre. 2021;30(3):262-71. PubMed PMID: 33486492. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC8089409. Epub 2021/01/25. eng.

51. Bhartiya S, Kumar N, Singh T, Murugan S, Rajavel S, Wadhwani M. Knowledge, attitude and practice towards COVID-19 vaccination acceptance in West India. Int J Community Med Public Health. 2021;8:1170-6.

52. Bono SA, Faria de Moura Villela E, Siau CS, Chen WS, Pengpid S, Hasan MT, et al. Factors affecting COVID-19 vaccine acceptance: An international survey among Low-and Middle-Income Countries. Vaccines. 2021;9(5):515.

53. Asadi Faezi N, Gholizadeh P, Sanogo M, Oumarou A, Mohamed MN, Cissoko Y, et al. Peoples' attitude toward COVID-19 vaccine, acceptance, and social trust among African and Middle East countries. Health Promot Perspect. 2021;11(2):171-8. PubMed PMID: 34195040. eng.

54. Kanyanda S, Markhof Y, Wollburg P, Zezza A. The acceptance of covid-19 vaccines in Sub-Saharan Africa: Evidence from 6 national phone surveys. medRxiv. 2021.

55. Ditekemena JD, Nkamba DM, Mutwadi A, Mavoko HM, Siewe Fodjo JN, Luhata C, et al. COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance in the Democratic Republic of Congo: A Cross-Sectional Survey. Vaccines. 2021 Feb 14;9(2). PubMed PMID: 33672938. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7917589. Epub 2021/03/07. eng.

56. Echoru I, Ajambo PD, Bukenya EEM, editors. Acceptance and Risk Perception of COVID-19 Vaccine in Uganda: A Cross Sectional Study in Western Uganda2020.

57. Abebe H, Shitu S, Mose A. Understanding of COVID-19 Vaccine Knowledge, Attitude, Acceptance, and Determinates of COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance Among Adult Population in Ethiopia. Infection and Drug Resistance. 2021;14:2015-25.

58. Mesele M. COVID-19 Vaccination Acceptance and Its Associated Factors in Sodo Town, Wolaita Zone, Southern Ethiopia: Cross-Sectional Study. Infection and drug resistance. 2021;14:2361-7. PubMed PMID: 34194232. eng.

59. Zewude B, Habtegiorgis T. Willingness to Take COVID-19 Vaccine Among People Most at Risk of Exposure in Southern Ethiopia. Pragmatic and observational research. 2021;12:37-47. PubMed PMID: 34079423. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC8166351. Epub 2021/06/04. eng.

60. Angelo AT, Alemayehu DS, Dachew AM. Health care workers intention to accept COVID-19 vaccine and associated factors in southwestern Ethiopia, 2021. PloS one. 2021;16(9):e0257109.

61. Taye BT, Amogne FK, Demisse TL, Zerihun MS, Kitaw TM, Tiguh AE, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 vaccine acceptance and perceived barriers among university students in northeast Ethiopia: A cross-sectional study. Clinical epidemiology and global health. 2021;12:100848.

62. Hailemariam S, Mekonnen B, Shifera N, Endalkachew B, Asnake M, Assefa A, et al. Predictors of pregnant women's intention to vaccinate against coronavirus disease 2019: A facility-based cross-sectional study in southwest Ethiopia. SAGE open medicine. 2021;9:20503121211038454.

63. Berihun G, Walle Z, Berhanu L, Teshome D. Acceptance of COVID-19 vaccine and determinant factors among patients with chronic disease visiting Dessie Comprehensive Specialized Hospital, Northeastern Ethiopia. Patient preference and adherence. 2021;15:1795.

64. Mesfin Y, Argaw M, Geze S, Zewdu BT. Factors associated with intention to receive COVID-19 vaccine among HIV positive patients attending ART clinic in Southwest Ethiopia. Patient preference and adherence. 2021;15:2731.

65. Mose A. Willingness to receive COVID-19 vaccine and its determinant factors among lactating mothers in Ethiopia: a cross-sectional study. Infection and Drug Resistance. 2021;14:4249.

66. Wang J, Jing R, Lai X, Zhang H, Lyu Y, Knoll MD, et al. Acceptance of COVID-19 Vaccination during the COVID-19 Pandemic in China. Vaccines. 2020;8(3):482.

67. Wong LP, Alias H, Wong PF, Lee HY, AbuBakar S. The use of the health belief model to assess predictors of intent to receive the COVID-19 vaccine and willingness to pay. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2020 Sep 1;16(9):2204-14. PubMed PMID: 32730103. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7553708. Epub 2020/07/31. eng.

 Bell S, Clarke R, Mounier-Jack S, Walker JL, Paterson P. Parents' and guardians' views on the acceptability of a future COVID-19 vaccine: A multi-methods study in England. Vaccine.
 2020 Nov 17;38(49):7789-98. PubMed PMID: 33109389. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC7569401. Epub 2020/10/29. eng.

69. Rhodes A, Hoq M, Measey M-A, Danchin M. Intention to vaccinate against COVID-19 in Australia. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2021;21(5):e110.

70. Huynh G, Nguyen TV, Nguyen DD, Lam QM, Pham TN, Nguyen HTN. Knowledge About COVID-19, Beliefs and Vaccination Acceptance Against COVID-19 Among High-Risk

People in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. Infect Drug Resist. 2021;14:1773-80. PubMed PMID: 34012276. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC8128504. Epub 2021/05/21. eng.

71. Faasse K, Newby J. Public perceptions of COVID-19 in Australia: perceived risk, knowledge, health-protective behaviors, and vaccine intentions. Frontiers in psychology. 2020;11.

72. Sherman SM, Smith LE, Sim J, Amlôt R, Cutts M, Dasch H, et al. COVID-19 vaccination intention in the UK: results from the COVID-19 vaccination acceptability study (CoVAccS), a nationally representative cross-sectional survey. Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics. 2020:1-10.

73. Salali GD, Uysal MS. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy is associated with beliefs on the origin of the novel coronavirus in the UK and Turkey. Psychological medicine. 2020:1-3.

74. Report from Mayor office of Bahir Dar City Administration. 2021.

75. Feleke BT, Wale MZ, Yirsaw MT. Knowledge, attitude and preventive practice towards COVID-19 and associated factors among outpatient service visitors at Debre Markos compressive specialized hospital, north-west Ethiopia, 2020. Plos one. 2021;16(7):e0251708.

76. Kaliyaperumal K. Guideline for conducting a knowledge, attitude and practice (KAP) study. AECS Illumination. 2004 01/01;4:7-9.

77. Myers LB, Goodwin R. Determinants of adults' intention to vaccinate against pandemic swine flu. BMC public health. 2011 Jan 6;11(1):15. PubMed PMID: 21211000. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3024930. Epub 2011/01/08. eng.

78. Rosenstock IM. The health belief model and preventive health behavior. Health education monographs. 1974;2(4):354-86.

### **11. APPENDICES**

#### 11.1. Annex I: Information Sheet

#### **Bahir Dar University**

#### **School of Public Health**

Good morning/Good afternoon. My name is\_\_\_\_\_\_ and I am a member of a team researching to assess attitudes and acceptance of adults regarding COVID-19 vaccination in Bahir Dar City administration, Northwest Ethiopia. The study is conducted by **Ashenefe Belaihun**, an MPH student in collaboration with Bahir Dar University, School of Public Health.

The purpose of my visit today is to take information from you on COVID-19-related attitudes and acceptance of the covid-19 vaccine. If you are willing to participate, I will ask you a few questions. I will visit your home and backyard environment to collect information. In the study, if you are found to have certain health problems, appropriate educational counseling and education will be given to you. However, no financial payment will be made for your participation.

Your name will not be written on this form and will never be used with any information you may tell me. You do not have to answer any questions that you do not want to answer and you may end this interview at any time you want. However, your honest answer to these questions and your continued interest to participate in the study will help for a better understanding of the attitudes and acceptance of adults regarding COVID-19 vaccination which help in designing and implementing appropriate intervention programs to alleviate the problem.

We would very much appreciate your participation in this research by genuinely responding to the interviews. Your participation in the study is fully based on your interest and choice. It would take 20-30 minutes to complete the questionnaire. If you have any questions during my interview and observation of the home and backyard of the environment, you can ask me at any time so that I can elaborate on them. It is also possible to communicate with the principal investigator through Tel +251913 232437.

# 11.2. Annex II: Informed Consent Form

With the due understanding of the aforementioned information, would you be willing to participate in the study?

Yes 🗌

Signature/Finger print of the p	articipant	
Signature/Finger print	Date	
(Proceed to the interview)		
No (Terminate the interview	w)	
Signature of the interviewer		
Name	Signature	_ Date
Supervisors/Researcher remark	and signature	
Name	Signature	_ Date
	-	
Questionnaire Number		
Residence address	Urban (sub-city	House No)

Time started...... Time ended.....

# **11.3.** Annex III: English version questionnaire

Part I: Socio-demographic and economic variables

Instructions: Put the respondent's answer inside the box

S. No	Variables	Answer	Response Options
101.	Sex		1. Male
			2. female
102.	Age		
103.	Marital status of the		1. Married 2. Single
	respondent		3. Widowed 4. Separate
			5. Divorced
104.	Total family size of the HH		Write in number
	(household)		
105.	The religion of the respondent		1. Orthodox 2. Protestant
			3. Muslim 4. Catholic
			5. Others (specify)
106.	Ethnicity of the		1. Amhara 2. Agew
	Respondent		3. Oromo 4. Tigrie
			5. Others (specify)
107.	The educational level of		1. unable to read and write
	respondent		2. able to read and write
			3. Primary (grade 1-8)
			4. High school (9-12)
			5. Higher education (diploma
			and above)
108.	Occupational status		1 =not working 2 = daily laborer
			3 = farmer,
			4 =employed
			9. Other (specify)
109.	Monthly income of the HH		
	(in Ethiopian birr)		

Part II: COVID-19	disease-related c	juestions
-------------------	-------------------	-----------

201. Currently Infected with COVID-19
1. Yes
2. No
202. Previously infected with COVID-19
1. Yes
2. No
203. Has a family member or friend been infected with COVID-19?
1. Yes
2. No
204. Have family members or friends died due to COVID-19?
1. Yes
2. No
205. The main source of COVID-19 pandemic information?
1. World Health Organization (WHO)
2. National Ministry of Health
3. News and Media
4. Internet and Social Media
5. More than one source
6. Other, specify
206. Are you living with a person at risk (pregnant, cardiovascular disease, respiratory
disease, patients with cancer, immune-compromised) of severe COVID-19
1. Yes
2. No
207. Do you trust the government can control the COVID19 pandemic with the current
situation and facilities available?
1. Yes
2. No
3. Do not know
208. How confident are you in the advice given by the government information related to

COVID-19?
1. Completely confident
2. Fairly Confident
3. Somewhat Confident
4. Slightly Confident
5. Not Confident at all
209. Do you think that the number of reported cases of COVID-19 is being exaggerated?
1. Yes
2. No
3. May be
210. Do you trust the healthcare system can control the COVID19 pandemic with the current
situation?
1. Yes
2. No
3. Do not know

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19	Strongly	Agree	Neutral	Disagr	Strongly
	agree (1)	(2)	(3)	ee(4)	disagree
					(5)
211. My chance of getting COVID-19					
in the next few months is great					
212. I am worried about the likelihood					
of getting COVID-19 in the near					
future					
213. Getting COVID-19 is currently a					
possibility for me.					
Perceived severity of COVID-19					
214.Complications from COVID-19 are					
serious					
215. I will be very sick if I get COVID-					
19					
216. I am afraid of getting COVID-19					

Part III: Questions on knowledge related to Covid-19 disease

Statements	True	False	I don't know
301. The main clinical symptoms of COVID-19 are fever, fatigue, dry			
cough, and myalgia.			
302. Unlike the common cold, stuffy nose, runny nose, and sneezing			
are less common in persons infected with the COVID-19 virus.			
303. There currently is no effective cure for COVID-2019, but early			
symptomatic and supportive treatment can help most patients			
recover from the infection.			
304. Not all persons with COVID-2019 will develop into severe cases.			
Only those who are elderly, have chronic illnesses, and are obese			
are more likely to be severe cases.			
305. Eating or contacting wild animals would result in infection by the			
COVID-19 virus.			
306. Persons with COVID-2019 cannot infect the virus others when a			
fever is not present.			
307. The COVID-19 virus spreads via the respiratory droplets of			
infected individuals.			
308. Ordinary residents can wear general medical masks to prevent			
infection by the COVID-19 virus.			
309. It is not necessary for children and young adults to take measures			
to prevent infection by the COVID-19 virus.			
310. To prevent the infection by COVID-19, individuals should avoid			
going to crowded places such as train stations and avoid taking			
public transportations.			
311. Isolation and treatment of people who are infected with the			
COVID-19 virus are effective ways to reduce the spread of the			
virus.			
312. People who have contact with someone infected with the COVID-			
19 virus should be immediately isolated in a proper place. In			
general, the observation period is 14 days.			

<ol> <li>The Novel Corona Virus is undoubtedly human-made to implement particular agendas.</li> <li>Strongly disagree</li> </ol>
1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree
402. Local governmental policies would help reduce the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus
1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree
403. Maintaining a social distance from COVID-19 suspected and confirmed cases would
reduce the prevention of CVOID-19
1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree
404. Do you think you are not at risk of contracting the COVID-19 because your immunity is
strong?
1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree
405. The traditional remedies (i.e., herbs) may protect from infectious diseases such as
COVID-19

Part IV: Questions on attitude related to COVID-19 disease

1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree
406. To which extent do you agree that physical distancing can protect you and your family
from contracting COVID-19 disease?
1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree
407. Do you think that following precautionary measures on a personal level would help the
community fight against the COVID-19 pandemic?
407.1. Hand washing
1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree
407.2.Mask wearing:
1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree

501. Do you wash your hands for 20 seconds with soap and water?	1. Yes
	2. No
502. If yes to the above question, How frequently you have been	3. Always
practicing handwashing?	2. Sometimes
	1. Rarely
	0. None
503. Do you sneeze/cough into your arm/elbow?	1. Yes
	2. No
504. Do you avoid shaking hands?	1. Yes
	2. No
505. Do you maintain a social distance of at least one meter?	1. Yes
	2. No
506. Do you avoid touching your face?	1. Yes
	2. No
507. Do you stay at home quite often?	1. Yes
	2. No
508. Do you use a face mask?	1. Yes
	2. No
509. If yes to the above question, How frequently you have been	3. Always
wearing masks?	2. Sometimes
	1. Rarely
	0. None

Part V: Practice toward WHO Recommended COVID-19 disease preventive measures

Part VI: Vaccine-related questions

Questions on acceptance of COVID-19 vaccine
601. Are you willing to take the COVID-19 vaccine?
1. Yes
0. No
602.if no, for the above question, what are the reasons for not willing to take the vaccine?
1. Not trust
2. Due to its safety
3. Other
Questions on Attitude of COVID-19 vaccine
603. The COVID-19 vaccines, in general, will be useful in controlling the disease

1.	Strongly disagree
2.	Disagree
3.	Neutral
4.	Agree
5.	Strongly agree
604.Red	ceiving an authorized vaccine for COVID-19 will be safe and trusty.
1.	Strongly disagree
2.	Disagree
3.	Neutral
4.	Agree
5.	Strongly agree
605. I a	m concerned about serious complications of the vaccines
1.	Strongly disagree
2.	Disagree
3.	Neutral
4.	Agree
5.	Strongly agree
606. I b	elieve the available vaccine is effective that could protect against COVID-19.
1.	Strongly disagree
2.	Disagree
3.	Neutral
4.	Agree
5.	Strongly agree
607. I b	elieve that taking the vaccine for COVID-19 usually outweighs the benefits of
vac	ccines than the risks.
1.	Strongly disagree
2.	Disagree
3.	Neutral
4.	Agree
5.	Strongly agree

608. May you encourage your family/friends/relatives to get vaccinated?
1. Strongly disagree
2. Disagree
3. Neutral
4. Agree
5. Strongly agree
Questions on Knowledge of COVID-19 vaccine
609. Do you know about the COVID-19 vaccine development?
1. Yes
2. No
610. Do you know about the effectiveness of the COVID-19 vaccine?
1. Yes
2. No
611. Is it dangerous to use an overdose of COVID-19 vaccines?
1. Yes
2. No
612. Does COVID-19 vaccination increase allergic reactions?
1. Yes
2. No
613. Does vaccination increase autoimmune diseases?
1. Yes
2. No

# 11.4. Annex IV ፡ የአማርኛ ቅጂ ሚጃ ቅፅ፣ የፍቃድ ፎርምእና ማጠይቅ አባሪ 1፡ የሚጃ ቅፅ

#### ባህር ዳር ዩኒቨርስቲ

#### የህዝብ ሐፍ ትምህርት ቤት

እንደምን አደርክ/ እንዴት ዋልክ? በባህር ዳር ከተማ አስተዳደር በሰሜን ምዕራብ ኢትዮጵያ የኮቪድ-19 ክትባትን በተመለከተ የአዋቂዎችን አመለካከት እና ተቀባይነት ለመገምገም የሚያጠና ቡድን አባል ነኝ፤ ስሜም ------- ይባላል። ጥናቱ የተካሄደው የኤም ፒ ኤች ተሜሪ የሆነው አሸነፈ በላይሁን ከባህር ዳር ዩኒቨርሲቲ የህብረተሰብ ጠና ትምህርት ቤት ጋር በመተባበር ነው።

የዛሬውጉብኝቴ አላማከኮቪድ-19 ጋር የተያያዘ አመለካከት እና የኮቪድ-19 ክትባቱን ተቀባይነት በተመለከተ መረጃ ከእርስዎ ዘንድ ለመቀበል ነው። ለመነተፍ ፈቃደኛ ከሆንክ/ሽ ጥቂት ጥያቄዎችን እጠይቅሃለሁ/ሻለው። መረጃ ለመነብሰብ የቤትዎን እና የጓሮ አካባቢዎን እነበኛለሁ። በጥናቱ ወስጥ አንዳንድ የጠፍ ችግሮች እንዳሉዎት ከተረጋገጠ ተገቢ የትምህርት ምክር እና ትምህርት ይሰጥዎታል. ነገር ግን ለተሳትፎዎ የገንዘብ ክፍያ አይከፈልም።

ስምዎ በዚህ ቅጽ ላይ አይጻፍምእና እርስዎ ሊነ ግሩኝ ከጣቻሉት ማንኛውም መረጃ ጋር ፈጽሞ ተቅም ላይ አይወሉም. መጣለስ የ ማይፈልጓቸውን ማንኛውንም ተያቄዎች መጣለስ የለብዎትም እና ይህንን ቃለ መጤይቅ በፈለጉት ጊዜ ማቆም ይችላሉ። ነገር ግን ለእነዚህ ተያቄዎች የሰጡት ትክክለኛ መልስ እና በተናቱ ለመነተፍ ያለዎት ፍላጎት የጎልማሶችን አመለካከት እና ተቀባይነት ችግሩን ለመቅረፍ ተገቢውን የጣልቃገብነት መርሃ ግብሮችን በመንደፍ እና በመተግበር ላይ ያለውን የኮቪድ-19 ክትባትን በተመለከተ የተሻለ ግንዛቤ እንዲኖር ይረዳል።

ለቃለ ማጠይቆቹ እውነተኛ ምላሽ በጣስጡት በዚህ ጥናት ላይ ተሳትፎዎን በጣም እናደንቃለን። በጥናቱ ውስጥ ያለዎት ተሳትፎ ጣሉ በጣሉ በእርስዎ ፍላጎት እና ምርጫላይ የተጣጎረተ ነው። ጣጠይቁን ለመጣላት ከ20-30 ደቂቃዎች ይወስዳል። በኔ ቃለ ምልልስ እና ስለ አካባቢው ቤት እና ጓሮ ምልከታ ምንም አይነት ጥያቄ ካሎት በማንኛውም ጊዜ ሊጠይቁኝ ይችላሉ፤ ስለዚህ የበለጠ ማበራሪያ እሰጣለሁ። እንዲሁም ከዋናው ተመራማሪ ጋር በስልክ ቁጥር +251913 232437 ጣ ናኘት ይቻላል።

### አባሪ II፡ <u>የስምንትቅጽ</u>

ከላይ የ ተጠቀሰውን መረጃ በሚነባ ከተረዳህ በጥናቱ ለመነተፍ ፈቃደኛ ትሆናለህ?

አዎ 🗌

የአሳታፊውፊር ማየ ማትአሻራ
ፊር <i>ማ</i> የ ጣት አሻራቀን
(Proceed to the interview)

የለም 📃 (ቃለ ማከይቁን ያቋር ጠ)

<u>የ                                    </u>		
ስም	_ፊር ማ	_ቀን

<u>ተቆጣሤዎች/የ ተሙሜ አስተያየ</u>	ትእና ፊርጣ	
ስም	_ፊርማ	_ ቀን

ጣኪይቅ ቁጥር	
የ ማሪያ አድራሻ	ከተማ(ክፍለ ከተማየቤት ቁጥር)

## አባሪ III፡ የአ*ጣ*ርኛቅጅ ጣጠይቅ

### ክፍል 1፡ ማህበረ-ሕዝብእና ኢኮኖሚያዊ ተለዋዋጮች

# መማሪያ፡ ምላሽ ሰጨዎችን በሳጥኑ ወስጥ ያስቀምጡ

ተ.ቁ	ጥያ <b>ቄዎ</b> ች	ማልስ	የ ምላሽ አ <i>ጣ</i> ራጮች
101.	<u> </u>		3. ወንድ 4. ሴት
102.	እድሜ		
103.	የ ጋ ብቻ ሁኔ ታ		1.ያንባ 2. ያላንባ 3.ባል የ ምተባት/የ ምተበት 4. የ ተለየ 5. የ ተፋታ
104.	የ ቤተሰ ብ ብዛ ት		በቁጥር ይጻፍ
105.	ሃይማኖት		1. ኦርቶዶክስ 2. ፕሮቴስታንት 3. ማስሊም 4. ካቶሊክ 5. ሌላ ካለ ይጠቃስ
106.	ብሐር		1. አ <i>ጣ</i> ራ 2. አገው 3. ኦሮሞ 4. ትግሬ 5. ሌላ ካለ ይጠቃስ
107.	የ ትምህር ት ደረጃ		<ol> <li>ማንበብ እና መጻፍ የ ማይቸል</li> <li>ደ. ዋና (1-8 ክፍል)</li> <li>ሁለ ተኛ ደረጃ (9-12)</li> <li>ከፍተኛ ትምህርት (ዲፕሎማ እና ከዚያ በላይ)</li> </ol>
108.	የስራደረጃ		1 =የ ማይሰራ 2 = የ ቀን ሰራተኛ 3 = ነበሬ, 4 = ሰራተኛ / ባለማያ 9. ሌላ ካለ ይጠቀስ)
109.	የቤተሰቡ ወርሃዊ ነቢ		

ክፍል II፡ ኮቪድ-19 ተዛ*ሞ*ጅ ጥያ ቄዎች

201.	በአሁኑ ጊዜ በኮቪድ-19 ተይዘዋል?
1.	አዎ
2.	የለም
202.	ከዚህ ቀደምበኮቪድ-19 ተይዘዉነ በር?
1.	አዎ
2.	የለም
203.	የ ቤተሰብ አባል ወይም ዓደኛ በኮቪድ-19 ተይዟል?
1.	አዎ
2.	የለም
204.	በኮቪድ-19 ምክንያት የ ቤተሰብ አባላት ወይም <i>ጓደኞች ሞ</i> ተዋል?
1.	አዎ
2.	የለም
205.	ዋናውየኮቪድ-19 ወረርሽኝ መረጃ ምንጭ
1.	የዓለም ጠፍ ድር ጅት (WHO)
2.	ብሐራዊ ጤና ፕቢቃ ሚኒስቴር
3.	ዜና እና ሚዲያ
4.	ኢንተርኔት እና <i>ማ</i> ህበራዊ <i>ሚ</i> ደያ
5.	ሌላ፣ ካለ የጠቀስ
206.	በአደጋ ላይ ካለ ሰውጋር እየኖርክ ነው? (ነፍሰ ጠር፣ የልብና የደምቧንቧ በሽታ፣ የ <i>መ</i> ተንፈሻ
አ	ካላት በሽታ፣ ካንሰር ያለባቸውታማዊቾ፣ የበሽታ <i>ማ</i> ቋቋምአቅምየሌላ <i>ቸው</i> ን
	1. አዎ
	2. የለም

207. ማግስት አሁን ባለውሁኔ ታእና መልን ያዎች የኮሮና ወረርሽኙን መግጠር ይቸላል ብለው

ያምናሉ?

1. አዎ

2. የለም

3. አላወቅም

208. ከኮቪድ-19 ጋር በተገናኘ በመንግስት በሚሰጠውምክር እርግጠኝ

209. በኮቨድ-19 የ ተጣነገቡት በሽተኞች ቁጥር የ ተጋነነ ነ ውብለ ውያስባሉ?

210. የ ጠፍ አጠባበቅ ሥርዓቱ የኮቨድ-19 ወረርሽኝን አሁን ባለውሁኔታ መቆጣጠር እንደማቻል ያምናሉ?

በጣም

ሆ(1)

እስ*ማ*ማለ

እስማ

ማለሁ

(2)

ገለልተ

ኛ (3)

አልስማ በጣም

አልስማግ

53

ም(5)

ማም (4)

1. ማትበማት አተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማናለሁ

3. በማጠኑ አተማማናለሁ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

4. ትንሽ መተማማን

1. አዎ

2. የለም

1. አዎ

2. የለም

3. ምን አልባት

ብለውያስባሉ

ለኮቪድ-19 ተጋላ ጭ ት ግንዛቤ

211. በጣታጥሎት ጥቂት ወራት ውስጥ

በኮቪድ-19 የ ማንዝ እድሌ ትልቅ ነ ው

3. ምን አልባት

212. በቅርብጊዜ ወስጥበኮቪድ-19 የመያዝ			
እድል እ <i>ጨ</i> ቃለሁ			
213. በአሁኑ ጊዜ በኮቪድ-19 እያዛለው			
ብለ ውየ ን ምታሉ/እያዛለ ውበ ሚኒ ው			
ይስ <i>ማግ</i> ሉ			
የ ኮቪድ-19 ከባድነ <i>ት ግን</i> ዛቤ	L	L	
<b>214.</b> በኮቪድ-19 <i>የ ሚ</i> ሞኩ <i>ችግሮች</i> ከባድ			
ናቸው			
<b>215.</b> ኮቪድ-19 ካ <i>ጋጡማ /ከተያዝ</i> ኩ በ <i>ጣ</i> ም			
እ <i>ታመግ</i> ለሁ ብየአስባለሁ።			
<b>216.</b> ኮቪድ-19 ይይዘኛል ብየ እፌራለሁ			

## ክፍል ሶስት፡ <u>ከኮቪድ-19 ጋር በተያያዙ ዕወቀት ላይ ያሉ ተያቄዎች</u>

መባለጫዎች	እወነት	ወሽት	<u>አ</u> ላ <i>ወ</i> ቅም
301. የኮቪድ-19ዋና ክሊኒካዊ ምልክቶች ትኩሳት፣ ድካም፣ ደረቅ ሳል			
እና የ ጠን <i>ቻ ህመ</i> ምናቸው።			
302. እንደ ጉንፋን፣ አፍንጫመጨፍነ ቅ፣ ንፍጥ እና ማስነ ጠስ በኮቪድ-			
19 ቫይረስ በተያዙ ሰዎች ላይ በጣምአናሳ ነ ው።			
<b>303.</b> በአሁኑ ጊዜለ COVID-19 ወጡታማየሆነ ፈወስ የለም፣ ነገር			
<i>ግን ቀ</i> ደም ብሎ በምልክት እና ድጋፍ ሰ <i>ጭ</i> ህክምና አብዛኛዎቹ			
<i>ህመ</i> ምተኞች ከበሽታውእን <i>ዲ</i> ድኑ ለረ <i>ዳቸ</i> ውይችላል			
<b>304.</b> ሁሉም ኮቪድ-19 ያለባቸው ሰዎች ወደ ከባድ ጉዳዮች ሊዳረጉ አይቸሉም።			
አረጋወያን፣ ሥር የሰደደ ሕመምያለባቸውእና ከመጠን በላይ ወፍራምየሆኑ ብቻ			
ከባድ ጉዳዮች የ መጋለጥ እድላ ቸውሰፊ ነ ው።			
305. የዳር እንስሳትን መበላት ወይም ጣ ካካት በኮቪድ-19 ቫይረስ ማንዝን			
ስከትላል			
<b>306.</b> ኮቪድ-2019 ያለባቸው ሰዎች ትኩሳት በ <i>ማ</i> ይኖርበት ጊዜ ቫይረሱን			

ደሌሎች ጣከል አይችሉም።		
<b>307.</b> የኮቪድ-19 ቫይረስ በበሽታው በተያዙ ሰዎች የ <i>መ</i> ተንፈሻ ጠብታዎች		
ተላለፋል።		
308. ተራ ነዋሪዎች በኮቪድ-19 ቫይረስ እንዳይያዙ አመቃላይ የህክምና		
ዓብል <i>ማ</i> ድረ <i>ግ</i> ይችላሉ።		
309. ህፃናት እና ጎልማሶች በኮቪድ-19 ቫይረስ እንዳይያዙ ለመካላከል		
ር <i>ም</i> ጃዎችን <i>መ</i> ወሰድ አስፈላጊ አይደለም።		
<b>310.</b> በኮቪድ-19 ኢንፌክሽኑን ለመካላከል ግለሰቦች በተጩነቁ ቦታዎች		
ንደ ባቡር ጣቢያ ከመሄድ እና የህዝብ ማመላለሻዎችን ከመወሰድ መቆጠበ		
ለባቸው።		
<b>311.</b> በኮቪድ-19 ቫይረስ የ <i>ተያዙ ሰዎችን ማ</i> ካለል እና <i>ማ</i> ስም የቫይረሱን		
ር ጭት ለመቀነስ ውጤታማማንገ ዶች ናቸው።		
<b>312.</b> በኮቪድ-19 ቫይረስ ከተያዘ ሰው <i>ጋር ግንኙነት ያደረጉ</i> ሰዎች ወዲያውኑ		
ተገቢውቦታ መለል አለባቸው። በአጠቃላይ, የእይታጊዜ 14 ቀናት ነው:		

# <u> ክፍል IV፡ ከኮቪድ-19 ጋር በተገናኘ የአማለካከት ተያቄዎች</u>

401.	ኮሮና ቫይረስ ልዩ አጀንዳዎችን ተግባራዊ ለ <i>ሞ</i> ድረ <i>ግ የ መ</i> ጣሰውሰራሽ እንደሆነ ጥርጥር የለወም
1.	መት በመት አተማመናለሁ
2.	ትክክለኛ እተማማናለው
3.	በመጡ እተማማለሁ
4.	ትንሽ መተማወን
5.	በፍጹም <i>አልተማ</i> ማም
402.	የአካባቢ አስተዳደር ፖሊሲዎች SARS-CoV-2 ቫይረስ ስር <i>ጭ</i> ትን ለ <i>መ</i> ቀነ ስ ይረዳሉ
1.	<i>ሞ</i> ት በ <i>ሞ</i> ት <i>ስተማ</i> ማ ለ <i>ሁ</i>

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማለው

3. በማጠኑ አተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

403. በኮቪድ-19 ከተሰረሰፋ እና ከተረጋገ ጡህማምተኞች ማህበራዊ ርቀትን ማስበቅ የኮቪድ-19ን

ስር*ጭ*ት ይቀንሳል

1. ጣትበጣት አተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማለው

3. በማጠኑ አተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

404. የበሽታ መካላከል አቅምዎ ጠንካራ ስለሆነ በኮቪድ-19 የመያዝ እድል የለኝም ብለው ያስባሉ

1. ጣትበጣት አተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማለው

3. በማጠኑ አተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

405. ባህላዊ መድሃኒቶች (ማለትም፣ ዕፅዋት) እንደ ኮቪድ-19 ካሉ ተላላፊ በሽታዎች ሊከላከሉ ይችላሉ

1. ማትበማት አተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማናለሁ

3. በማጠኑ እተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

**406.** አካላዊ መራራቅ እርስዎን እና ቤተሰብዎን ከኮቪድ-19 በሽታ እንደ**ጣ**ጠበቃቸውእስከ ምን ድረስ

ይስ*ማማ*ሉ?

1. ማትበማት አተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማጣናለሁ

3. በማጠኑ እተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

### 407. በግላዊ ደረጃ የ ጥን ቃቄ እርምጃዎችን መከተል ህብረ ተሰቡ የ ኮቪድ-19 ወረር ሽኝን ለመከላከል

ይረዳል ብለውያስባሉ?

**407.1.** እጅ ማታጠበ

1. ማትበማት አተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማናለሁ

3. በማጠኑ እተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

407.2. ማስክ *ማ*ልበስ

1. ማትበማት አተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማለው

3. በማከት እተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

# ክፍል V፡ በአለምየ ጤ ድርጅት (WHO) የ ተጣት የ ኮቪድ-19 የ ጣካላከያ እርምጃዎች ትግበራ

501.ለ 20 ሰከንድእጅን በሳመና እና በወሃ ይታጠባሉ?	1. አዎ
	2. የለም
502. ከላይ ላለው ጥያ ቄ አዎ ከሆነ ፣ የእጅ መታጠብን ምን ያህል ጊዜ እየ ተገበሩት	3. ሁሌም
ነ ው?	2. አንዳንኤ
	1. አልፎ አልፎ
	0. ምን ም
503. ሲያስለዎ/ሲያስነ ጥሰዎ በክንድዎ/ክርንዎ ይከልላሉ?	1. አዎ
	2. የ ለ ም
504. እጅ ከመጨበጥ ትቆጠባለ ሀ/ሺ?	1. አዎ
	2. የለም
<b>505.</b> ቢያንስ አንድ ሜተር <i>ማ</i> ህበራዊ ርቀትዎን ይጠቢቃሉ?	1. አዎ
	2. የለም
<b>506.</b> ፊትዎን ከ <i>ማ</i> ካካት ትቆጠባለ <i>ህ/</i> ሺ?	1. አዎ
	2. የለም
507. ብዙ ጊዜ ቤት ወስ ዋ የ ቀመጣሉ?	1. አዎ
	2. የለም
<b>508.</b> ማስክ/የፊት መኘፈኛ የ ጠቀማሉ?	1. አዎ
	2. የለም
509. ከላይ ላለው ተያቄ አዎ ከሆነ ፣ ማስክ/የፊት ማሽፈኛን ምን ያህል ጊዜ	3. ሁሌም
እየ ተገ በሩት ነ ው?	2. አንዳንኤ
	1. አልፎ አልፎ
	0. ምን ም

ክፍል VI፡ ከክትባት ጋር የተያያዙ ጥያቄዎች

### የ ኮቪድ-19 ክትባት መቀበልን የ ሚላከቱ ተያቄዎች

601.	የኮቪድ-19 ክትባትን ለ <i>መ</i> ሳድ ፍ <i>ቃ</i> ደኛ ኖት?
	1. አዎ
	0. የለም
602.	ከላይ ላለው ጥያቄ, መልስዎ የለም ከሆነ, ክትባቱን ለመወሰድ ፈቃደኛ ያልሆኑበት ምክንያቶች
ምንድን ናቸው?	
1.	አለመተማመን
2.	በደህንነቱ ምክንያት
3.	ሌላ ምክንያት ካለ ይጠቀስ
በኮቪድ-19 ክትባት አ <i>ጣ</i> ላካከት ላይ ያሉ ጥያቄዎች	
603.	የ ኮቪድ-19 ክትባቶች፣ በአጢቃላይ፣ በሽታውን ለ <i>መ</i> ቆጣጠር ጢቃሚይሆናሉ፡፡ ፡
1.	<b>ሙ</b> ት በ <i>ሙ</i> ት <i>ስ ተማ</i> ምና ለ ሁ
2.	ትክክለኛ እ <i>ተማ</i> ማናለሁ
3.	በጣጡ አተማጣለሁ
4.	ትንሽ መተማመን
5.	በፍጹምአል <i>ተማ</i> ማም
604.	ለኮቪድ-19 የ ተፈቀደ ክትባት መቀበል ደህንነ ቱ የ ተጠበቀ እና አስተማማኝ ይሆናል፡ ፡
1.	ማት በ <i>ማ</i> ት <i>እተማ</i> ማ ለ ሁ
2.	ትክክለኛ እ <i>ተማ</i> ማናለሁ
3.	በመጡ አተማማሻለሁ
4.	ትንሽ መተማመን
5.	በፍጹምአል <i>ተማ</i> ማም
605.	ስለ ክትባቶች ከባድ ችግሮች ያሳስበኛል፡ ፡
1.	<b>ማት</b> በ <i>ማ</i> ት <i>ስ ተማ</i> ማና ለ ሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማናለሁ

3. በማጠኑ አተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

606. ያለውክትባት ከኮቪድ-19 ሊከላከል የ ማቻል ወጡታማነ ውብየ አምናለሁ

1. ጣትበጣት አተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማናለሁ

3. በጣጡ አተማማለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

607. የኮቪድ-19 ክትባት መወሰድ ከስጋቶቹ ይልቅ የክትባት ጥቅሞችን ያመዝናል ብየ አምናለው

1. ጣትበጣትእተማማናለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማማናለሁ

3. በጣጡ አተማማለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

608. ቤተሰ ብዎ/ጓደኞችዎ/ዘመዶችዎ እንዲከተቡ አበረ ታታለ ሁ፡፡

1. ጣትበጣት አተማማለሁ

2. ትክክለኛ እተማጣለሁ

3. በማጠኑ እተማማናለሁ

4. ትንሽ መተማማ

5. በፍጹምአልተማማም

### በኮቪድ-19 ክትባት እወቀት ላይ ያሉ ጥያቄዎች

### **609.** ስለ ኮቪድ-19 ክትባት ሳይንሳዊ ግኝት እና አመራረት ያወቃሉ?

- - 1. አዎ

- - 2. የለም
- 610. ስለ ኮቪድ-19 ክትባት ወጠታማ ት ያወቃሉ?
  - 1. አዎ
  - 2. የለም

**611.** ከ*ሞ*ጠን በላይ የኮቪድ-19 ክትባቶችን *ሞ*ጠቀም አደ*ካ ኛ ነ* ውን?

- 1. አዎ
- 2. የለም

### 612. የኮቪድ-19 ከትባት የአለር ምላሾችን ይጨምራል?

2. የለም

1. አዎ

2. የለም

- - 1. አዎ

613. ክትባቱ ራስን የመካላከል በሽታዎችን ይጨምራል?

- - 61
## 11.5. Annex V: Student Declaration

I, the undersigned, declared that this is my original work, has never been presented in this or any other university, and that all the resources and materials used for the research, have been fully acknowledged.

## **Principal investigator:**

 Name: Ashenefe Belaihun
 Signature:
 Date:

## 11.6. Annex VI: Assurance of principal investigator

The undersigned agrees to accept responsibility for the scientific ethical and technical conduct of the research project and the provision of required progress reports as per the terms and conditions of the research publication office of Bihar Dar University.

Name of the Student: Ashenefe Belaihun

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature\_\_\_\_\_

Approval of the Advisors:

Name of the advisors: Dr Achenef Motbainor (Ph.D.)

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

Mr Tebkew Shibabaw (BSc, MPH)

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature\_\_\_\_\_

## 11.6. Annex VI: Assurance of principal investigator

The undersigned agrees to accept responsibility for the scientific ethical and technical conduct of the research project and the provision of required progress reports as per the terms and conditions of the research publication office of Bihar Dar University.

Name of the Student: Ashenefe Belaihun



Approval of the Advisors:

Name of the advisors: Dr Achenef Motbainor (Ph.D.)

Date: 18 Aug 12122 Signature: Al



Mr Tebkew Shibabaw (BSc, MPH)

Date:

Signature

Date: Stanla Admasie Signature: 00 Examiner: